

Walden University ScholarWorks

Walden Dissertations and Doctoral Studies

Walden Dissertations and Doctoral Studies Collection

2023

# Burnout and Positive Thinking Skills Among Critical Care Nurses

Evangeline Ani Walden University

Follow this and additional works at: https://scholarworks.waldenu.edu/dissertations

Part of the Nursing Commons

This Dissertation is brought to you for free and open access by the Walden Dissertations and Doctoral Studies Collection at ScholarWorks. It has been accepted for inclusion in Walden Dissertations and Doctoral Studies by an authorized administrator of ScholarWorks. For more information, please contact ScholarWorks@waldenu.edu.

# Walden University

College of Nursing

This is to certify that the doctoral dissertation by

Evangeline Ani

has been found to be complete and satisfactory in all respects, and that any and all revisions required by the review committee have been made.

Review Committee Dr. Leslie Hussey, Committee Chairperson, Nursing Faculty Dr. Mary Martin, Committee Member, Nursing Faculty Dr. Carolyn Sipes, University Reviewer, Nursing Faculty

> Chief Academic Officer and Provost Sue Subocz, Ph.D.

> > Walden University 2023

# Abstract

Burnout and Positive Thinking Among Critical Care Nurses

by

Evangeline Ani

MSN, California State University, Dominguez Hills, 2004 BSN, California State University, Dominguez Hills, 2002

Dissertation Submitted in Partial Fulfillment

of the Requirements for the Degree of

Doctor of Philosophy

Nursing

Walden University

February 2023

#### Abstract

Burnout is a global health problem with a significant negative impact on the physical, mental, and emotional health and well-being of critical care nurses, which in turn has serious effects on the critical care work environment. Positive thinking has the potential of transforming the work environment. The purposes of this quantitative, correlational study, guided by Lazarus's theory of stress, were to determine (a) if there was a relationship between the use of positive thinking skills and burnout among critical care nurses, and (b) if there was a difference between the use of positive thinking skills and burnout among critical care nurses who have been working in the critical care units for 1 year or less compared with critical care nurses who have been working in critical care more than 1 year. A total of 242 critical care nurses working in acute care hospitals in the Southern United States participated in the study. Data were analyzed with Pearson correlation. Results showed a statistically significant negative correlation between positive thinking and emotional exhaustion (p < .001), a statistically significant negative correlation between positive thinking and depersonalization (p < .001), and a statistically significant positive correlation between positive thinking and personal accomplishment (p < .001). The findings provide new information which may promote a positive work environment, reduce and prevent burnout and can be used to assist with the development of formal training on positive thinking to empower critical care nurses to increase awareness of their personal strengths, which can affect positive social change. Future research should be directed towards interventional studies with pretest-posttest control groups to establish a causal link between positive thinking and burnout.

Burnout and Positive Thinking Among Critical Care Nurses

by

Evangeline Ani

MSN, California State University, Dominguez Hill 2004

BSN, California State University, Dominguez Hills, 2002

Dissertation Submitted in Partial Fulfillment

of the Requirements for the Degree of

Doctor of Philosophy

Nursing

Walden University

February 2023

## Dedication

I would like to dedicate my Ph.D. in Nursing degree accomplishment to God Almighty, who makes all things possible. I thank God the Father, God the Son, and God the Holy Spirit, who is the source of all inspirations, vision, wisdom, and knowledge. I give thanks to God for his grace, guidance, immeasurable kindness and inexhaustible goodness, love, and mercy. I thank God for giving me the joy and passion for positive social change. "I can do all things through Christ who strengthens me (Phil 4:13)."

Finally, I would like to remember all the critical care nurses who unfortunately experienced burnout symptoms as they work tirelessly to care for very ill patients, especially during the COVID-19 pandemic surge, because many patients required ICU level of care. I hope they find my study promising and a source of inspiration in their daily work.

## Acknowledgments

To my family, my children, and mother, I say a "big thank you" for your prayers, love, support, and encouragement. I truly appreciate all the sacrifices and for going the extra miles to support me in the pursuit of my academic goals. I also remember prayerfully the memories of my beloved loved ones who are no longer here on earth. I would like to cherish the memories of my father for laying the foundation and zeal for academic excellence. My father, known for exceptional academic excellence, instilled in me and my siblings the zeal to attain the highest academic ladder. I would also like to thank my siblings and their families for their prayers, love, and support. I would like to express my gratitude to my sister-in-law, relatives, friends, and Holy Spirit Catholic Charismatic Renewal Ministry for their prayers and positive contributions to make this journey a success.

I would like to thank Walden University for the educational and learning opportunity, for promoting positive social change, and for the "motto," "A higher degree, A higher purpose," all of which continually inspired and motivated me in my journey of academic success. I would like to thank my chair, Dr. Leslie Hussey, for her expertise, insight, guidance, ongoing support and approachable manner. Also, I thank Dr. Hussey for her encouragement and inspiration. Towards the end of my final study process, Dr. Hussey would often write in her messages to me "almost there;" this truly inspired and motivated me more, and I appreciated it. I would also like to thank my committee and URR members respectively, Dr. Mary Martin and Dr. Carolyn Sipes, for their insightful feedback and contributions.

List of Tablesiv
List of Figures
Chapter 1: Introduction to the Study1
Introduction1
Background5
Problem Statement
Purpose of the Study
Research Questions and Hypotheses12
Theoretical and/or Conceptual Framework for the Study13
Nature of the Study14
Definitions15
Assumptions16
Scope and Delimitations16
Limitations17
Significance17
Positive Thinking
Summary20
Chapter 2: Literature Review
Introduction21
Literature Search Strategy24
Theoretical Framework

# Table of Contents

Literature Review Related to Key Variables and/or Concepts	
Burnout: A Global Threat	
COVID-19-Related Burnout	
Burnout and Patient Safety	
Burnout and the Nurses' Working Environment	
Burnout Interventions	
Summary and Conclusions	40
Chapter 3: Research Method	42
Research Design and Rationale	42
Research Questions and Hypotheses	43
Methodology	44
Population	44
Sampling and Sampling Procedures	44
Procedures for Recruitment, Participation, and Data Collection	45
Instrumentation and Operationalization of Constructs	46
Data Analysis Plan	49
Threats to Validity	51
External Validity	51
Internal Validity	51
Ethical Procedures	52
Summary	53
Chapter 4: Results	54

Data Collection	55
Results	56
Summary	83
Chapter 5: Discussion, Conclusion, and Recommendations	86
Introduction	86
Interpretation of the Findings	87
Limitations of the Study	89
Recommendations	90
Implications	90
Conclusion	91
References	94
Appendix A: Recruitment Flyer	110
Appendix B: Screening Questions	111
Appendix C: Demographic Data Sheet	112
Appendix D: MBI Permission Letter	113
Appendix E: MBI Permission Letter	114
Appendix F: MBI Permission Letter	115
Appendix G: MBI Permission Letter	116
Appendix H: PTSS Permission Letter	117

Table 1 Age of the Participants	
<b>Table 2</b> Gender of the Participants	
Table 3 Marital Status of Participants	
Table 4 Race of Participants	
<b>Table 5</b> Level of Education of Participants	
Table 6 Time as Critical Care Nurse	
Table 7 Descriptive Statistics	
Table 8 Emotional Exhaustion (EE) Scores	
Table 9 Depersonalization (DP) Scores	
Table 10 Personal Accomplishment (PA) Scores	
Table 11 Positive Thinking Skills Scale (PTSS)	61
Table 12 Cronbach's Alpha	
Table 13 Levene's Test of Equality of Error Variances	
Table 14 Time as Critical Care Nurse	

# List of Tables

# List of Figures

Figure 1 Stress Theoretical Framework Model 2'
<b>Figure 2</b> <i>Emotional Exhaustion (EE)</i>
<b>Figure 3</b> <i>Emotional Exhaustion (EE) Boxplot</i>
<b>Figure 4</b> Depersonalization (DP) Boxplot
Figure 5 Personal Accomplishment (PA) Boxplot
<b>Figure 6</b> Positive Thinking Skills Scale (PTSS) Boxplot
Figure 7 Scatter Plot of Emotional Exhaustion (EE) by Positive Thinking Skills (PTSS)
Figure 8 Scatter Plot of Depersonalization (DP) by Positive Thinking Skills Scale
( <i>PTSS</i> )
Figure 9 Scatter Plot of Personal Accomplishment (PA) by Positive Thinking Skills
Scale (PTSS)6
<b>Figure 10</b> Scatter Plot of Dependent Variable Emotional Exhaustion (EE)
Figure 11 Scatter Plot of the Dependent Variable Depersonalization (DP)
Figure 12 Scatter Plot of Dependent Variable Personal Accomplishment (PA)
Figure 13 Scatter Plot of Dependent Variable Positive Thinking Skills Scale (PTSS) 69
Figure 14 Boxplot of Emotional Exhaustion (EE) by Time as Critical Care Nurse 7
Figure 15 Boxplot of Depersonalization (DP) by Time as Critical Care Nurse
Figure 16 Boxplot of Personal Accomplishment (PA) by Time as Critical Care Nurse 74
Figure 17 Boxplot of Positive Thinking Skills by Time as Critical Care Nurse

<b>Figure 18</b> Normal Q-Q Plot of Emotional Exhasution (EE) by Time as Critical Care
Nurse 1 Year or Less
Figure 19 Normal Q-Q Plot of Emotional Exhaustion (EE) by Time as Critical Care
Nurse More Than 1 Year76
Figure 20 Normal Q-Q Plot of Depersonalization (DP) by Time as Critical Care Nurse
1 Year or Less76
Figure 21 Normal Q-Q Plot of Depersonalization (DP) by Time as Critical Care Nurse
More Than 1 Year77
Figure 22 Normal Q-Q Plot of Personal Accomplishment (PA) by Time as Criticial Care
Nurse 1 Year or Less77
Figure 23 Normal Q-Q Plot of Personal Accomplishment (PA) by Time as Critical Care
Nurse More Than 1 Year78
Figure 24 Normal Q-Q Plot of Positive Thinking Skills Scale (PTSS) by Time as Critical
Care Nurse 1 Year or Less78
Figure 25 Normal Q-Q Plot of Positive Thinking Skills Scale (PTSS) by Time as Critical
Care Nurse More Than 1 Year79
Figure 26 Scatter Plot of Emotional Exhaustion (EE) by Positive Thinking Skills Scale
( <i>PTSS</i> )
Figure 27 Scatter Plot of Depersonalization (DP) by Positive Thinking Skills Scale
( <i>PTSS</i> )
Figure 28 Scatter Plot of Personal Accomplishment (PA) by Positive Thinking Skills
<i>Scale (PTSS)</i>

#### Chapter 1: Introduction to the Study

## Introduction

Burnout is a global problem that threatens the health and well-being of critical care nurses (Vahedian-Azimi et al., 2019; Wei et al., 2020; Zhang et al., 2020). There is still no identifiable solution for burnout despite the extensive studies and existing interventions on burnout (Bakhamis et al., 2019; Moss et al., 2016). Many burnout studies (Monroe et al., 2020; Moss et al., 2016; Ulrich et al., 2019) have focused on addressing factors in the nurses' work environment in order to combat burnout. In this study, I propose a different approach to combating the problem of burnout. This approach focuses on positive thinking and highlights the importance of interpretation and perception in stress, a key to understanding how stress occurs based on Lazarus's theory of stress. The interest in burnout has continued to grow over the past 15 to 20 years due to the serious consequences it has had on patient safety, quality, health care professionals, and the health care organization (Manzano-Garcia & Ayala, 2017). Burnout was first introduced in 1974 by the American psychologist Freudenberger to describe high levels of work-related stress, which he and his colleagues experienced while at a free clinic. Burnout is characterized by an overwhelming exhaustion, depersonalization, and reduced personal accomplishment due to prolonged exposure to stressors in the workplace (Maslach & Leiter, 2016). Burnout has been described in literature as an epidermic, denoting its widespread in occurrence (Bakhamis et al., 2019).

A widespread occurrence of burnout has been reported among critical care nurses. Swampy et al. (2020) reported that critical care nurses have the highest burnout rates of all nurse specialties, with one third to more than half of critical care nurses reporting symptoms of burnout. The prevalence of burnout among critical care nurses has been attributed to the highly stressful nature of their work environment (Alharbi et al., 2016; Awajeh et al., 2018; Cishahayo et al., 2017). The intensive care unit (ICU) is a highly specialized area with very ill patients, and the ongoing exposure to trauma and death places critical care professionals at high risk for burnout (Moss et al., 2016). Burnout results due to an imbalance between the expectations of the individuals and the demands of the job (Moss et al., 2016).

Burnout is a significant health problem among the critical care nurses and has gained the attention of experts in the critical care community. The Critical Care Societies Collaboratives (CCSC) issued a joint statement entitled "A Call for Action" as an invitation for more research and interventions to address burnout (Moss et al., 2016). The CCSC convened a working group to raise awareness of the significance of the problem, including causes and prevention of burnout (Moss et al). The CCSC consists of the four major critical care experts: American Association of Critical-Care Nurses (AACN), American Thoracic Society, American College of Chest Physicians, and Society of Critical Care Medicine (Moss et al., 2016). The CCSC report provided a summary of literature on interventions on burnout, which included environmental, communications, team-based, practitioner-based interventions, and interventions to mitigate risk factors. The call for action report is an indication of the continuing challenge of burnout among critical care professionals, despite the available interventions. There is a consensus among the critical care experts that burnout remains a challenge (Bakhamis et al., 2019; Moss et al., 2016), thus justifying the need for a different approach to combating the problem of burnout. The focus of my study was on burnout and positive thinking among critical care nurses. Positive thinking is a cognitive process that focuses on the favorable aspect of a situation, rather than the negative. Lazarus and Folkman (1984) stated that a person's perception and interpretation of an event gives meaning to the event and determines whether the event will be viewed in a positive or negative way. Manzano-Garcia and Ayala (2017) pointed out that the psychological interpretation of the work environment by the nurse plays a significant role in contributing to burnout and not only the characteristics of the work environment.

Positive thinking is a cognitive process that encompasses a hopeful perspective about things, focusing on the favorable, rather than the negative aspect of a situation, thereby helping a person to deal with problems more effectively (Matel-Anderson & Bekhet, 2018). Positive thinking helps a person to control negative thinking, thereby reducing the stress level (Kooshalshah et al., 2015) and improving the overall physical and emotional well-being (Tully & Tao, 2019). As a result, the nurse can function to their fullest potential to provide competent, compassionate, and empathic care to patients, therefore fulfilling an essential role (Hofmeyer et al., 2020). The physical and mental health of the nurse is crucial for engagement at work. Staff engagement and satisfaction has been linked to positive patient outcomes and enhanced organizational and financial well-being (Perlo et al., 2017), thus leading to a positive social change. Studies on burnout are critical due to the high prevalence of burnout among critical care nurses and the adverse impact on patient safety and quality, nurses' wellbeing and health, and financial and organizational outcomes (Moss et al., 2016), hence justifying an urgent need for a solution to address the chronic problem. The 1999 Institute of Medicine landmark report titled "To Err is human, building a safer health system," placed patient safety as a top priority in health care, transforming the health care agenda. However, the continuing prevalence of burnout in health care, particularly in the critical care units, threaten to derail the progress made on patient safety. Talaee et al. (2020) reported that burnout has been linked to the frequency of medical errors and quality of care issues. More specifically, Dyrbye et al. (2019) reported that increased patient mortality and infection rates have been associated with burnout.

A significant threat exists on the impact of burnout on individual well-being and health. Physical and psychological symptoms associated with burnout include fatigue, overwhelming exhaustion, cynicism, anxiety, depression, frustration, headache, insomnia, and lack of empathy (Bakhamis et al., 2019,). This leads to decreased interest in work, increased absenteeism, turnover rates, and shortage of nurses (Moss et al. 2016). The Coronavirus pandemic (COVID-19) has compounded the problem of burnout. According to Shreffler (2020), the challenge of caring for very ill COVID-19 patients, fear of contracting the infection, the acute shortage of resources, and need for self and family care have all placed significant mental and physical burden on health care workers. Fernandez et al. (2020) noted that the significant impact of the COVID-19 pandemic on nurses is an indication of the need to implement strategies that will support and promote nurses' health and well-being. Thus, through this study, I hope to improve the health and well-being of critical care nurses by reducing and preventing burnout so they can in turn provide safe and quality care to patients, therefore supporting the initiative to reduce burnout and promote joy in work launched by the Institute for Health Care and Quality.

#### Background

The problem of burnout among critical care nurses is a serious problem that needs urgent attention due to the toll it has taken on individuals, patient safety, quality, and organizational performance (Moss et al., 2016). Existing interventions against burnout have not offered any lasting solution, thus the urgent call for action by the CCSC (Moss et al., 2016). It is well documented in the literature that nursing is a highly stressful job due to the high demands of the roles and the work environment (Howell, 2021). According to Talaee (2020), highly stressful jobs are likely to contribute to burnout. The stressful nature of the nurses' role is not new; it has been present since the era of Florence Nightingale, the founder of modern nursing (Tye, 2020). However, the stress of nursing has gone unrecognized until recently when it started gaining attention in literature (Manzano-Garcia & Ayala, 2017) due to the serious negative impact on the wellbeing and health of the nurse, patient safety, quality of care, and organizational and financial outcomes (Moss et al., 2016; Perlo et al., 2017).

Florence Nightingale worked tirelessly during her era to care for the injured and dying soldiers during the Crimean War. She made rounds in the hospital at night carrying a lamp, which earned her the title "the lady with the lamp" (Tye, 2020). Florence Nightingale faced many stressors during her work, and she combined many roles, as she led reforms in health care and made significant contributions in areas of hospital epidemiology, statistics, infection control, medical triage, patient education, and empowerment (Tye, 2020). McDonald (2020) reported that her persistence and dedication led to improvement in the sanitary condition of the environment, thus leading to decreased mortality rate of the soldiers.

Today in healthcare, the stressors in the nurses' work environment are similar to the Florence Nightingale era. It is well documented in the literature that critical care nurses are at a high risk for burnout due to the nature of their work environment. The critical care environment is a specialized unit with technical equipment and monitors, including mechanical ventilators to assist breathing for critically ill patients (Mushonga & Dube-Mawerewere, 2017). Scholtz et al. (2016) described the critical care unit as a unique environment where very ill patients receive care. As a result, it is fast paced, requiring critical decisions to be made quickly. The critical care nurses' experiences of trauma, end of life issues, human suffering, work pressure, and increasing job demands all contribute to a stressful work environment (Alharbi et al., 2019). According to Talaee (2020), caring for critical care patients is a known factor contributing to job burnout. Burnout diminishes the nurses' ability to perform the essential nursing role of providing compassionate and empathic care (Alharbi et al., 2019).

The emergence of COVID-19 pandemic in the late 2019 posed a significant threat to public health (Santos, 2020) and a source of unprecedented stress on critical care nurses. COVID-19 is a severe respiratory disease that is highly infectious and can be transmitted from human to human through respiratory droplet (Santos, 2020). Armstrong

et al. (2020) reported that the COVID-19 pandemic led to a high demand of intensive care worldwide, thus placing critical care nurses at a higher risk of contracting COVID-19 infection due to the constant care ICU patients require. The additional burden of acute shortage of personal protective equipment, supplies, and ventilators became a source of constant worry and anxiety for the ICU nurses (Howell, 2021).

Notable work on burnout among critical care nurses have been leadership driven and focused on addressing factors in the nurses' work environment, thus overlooking individual factors that also impact burnout, such as the perception and interpretation of stressors by nurses, as pointed out by Manzano-Garcia and Ayala (2017). The AACN implemented eight Healthy Work Environment standards to promote a healthy work environment: skilled communication, true collaboration, effective decision making, meaningful recognition, appropriate staffing, and authentic leadership (Ulrich et al., 2019). Also, existing interventions included in the official critical care societies' collaborative statement on burnout syndrome in the critical care addressed organizational, environmental, and individual based interventions. Despite the existing interventions, there is still no effective solution for burnout (Bakhamis et al., 2019). The use of positive thinking skills to address burnout has been overlooked by researchers.

#### **Problem Statement**

Burnout is a serious global health problem that significantly impacts the health (physical, mental, and emotional) and well-being of critical care nurses, patient safety, quality of care, and organizational outcomes (Perlo et al., 2017; Vahedian-Azimi et al., 2019; Wei et al., 2020; Zhang et al., 2020). Burnout is characterized by an overwhelming exhaustion, depersonalization, and reduced personal accomplishment due to prolonged exposure to stressors in the workplace (Maslach & Leiter, 2016). Freudenberger (1974), who first described the concept of burnout, stated that burnout usually occurs after 1 year following employment. Therefore, burnout occurs over time. ICU nurses with more years in experience are more likely to develop burnout due to prolonged exposure to workrelated stress (Abumayyaleh et al., 2016; Batran, 2019). This is consistent with a previous study, which found that the level of stress increased among nurses with more years of professional experience (Al Shehri et al., 2012). Clinical manifestations of burnout include fatigue, anxiety, depression, headache, insomnia, irritability, lack of motivation, cynicism (negative attitude), loss of compassion, and lack of empathy (Moss et al., 2016). Research has shown that one third to more than one half of critical care nurses experience burnout symptoms (Swampy et al., 2020). Critical care nurses are individuals with specialized training to care for very ill or unstable patients with life-threatening conditions across different care settings, including ICU (Alharbi, 2019). Waddill-Goad (2017) noted that care and compassion are foundational to nursing practice. Pastores et al. (2019) pointed out that the delivery of care by "caring and compassionate" providers is critical to providing high quality care. The impact of burnout on critical care nurses is deleterious as it diminishes the critical care nurses' ability to perform the core role of providing compassionate, empathic, safe, and quality care to patients (Mudallall et al., 2017; Perlo et al., 2017).

In a review of burnout in nursing, Dall'Ora et al. (2020) reported that evidence from 17 studies showed a negative effect of burnout on the quality of care and patient safety. These include adverse events, error reporting, medication error, infections, patient falls, patient satisfaction, and family complaints. Depersonalization (burnout dimension) was associated with nosocomial infections, and, in another study, all three burnout dimensions predicted medication errors. Another study showed an association between higher levels of emotional exhaustion (burnout dimension) and low personal accomplishment (burnout dimension) with patient dissatisfaction (Dall'Ora et al., 2020).

Organizational impacts of burnout include low employee morale, lower staff engagement, decreased productivity, excessive absenteeism, and intention to leave (Papazian et al., 2018; Perlo et al., 2017). Burnout leads to decreased job satisfaction, high nurse turnover, and nursing shortage (Nantsupawat et al., 2017). Dilig-Ruiz et al. (2018) found that job satisfaction is a key factor associated with high turnover rates among critical care nurses and has significant financial implications for the organization. In a systematic review of literature on work-related stress involving 15 studies (including the United States), the total estimated cost of work-related stress may range from \$221.13 million to \$187 billion, with productivity related losses accounting for majority of the total cost, between 70% to 90% (Hassard et al., 2018).

The high prevalence of the burnout rate among health care professionals has gained the attention of notable health and regulatory organizations. The World Health Organization (WHO, 2019) recently classified burnout as an "occupational phenomenon" that results from chronic work stress that is not managed appropriately. WHO has proposed to develop evidence-based guidelines that can only be used for work-related experiences. The Institute for Healthcare Quality published a white paper launching the initiative on "Finding Joy in Work" to combat burnout among health care professionals (Perlo et al., 2017). Also, the Joint Commission (2019) issued a quick safety advisory on combating burnout among nurses, which emphasized leadership responsibilities. The growing trend of burnout is worrisome because there is still no identifiable cause despite existing interventions (Bakhamis et al., 2019).

The emergence of the COVID-19 pandemic compounded the already existing problem of burnout in nursing (Sultana et al., 2020). Zhang et al. (2020) reported that nurses who provide bedside care experienced considerable stress. However, nurses who cared for COVID-19 patients in the ICU experienced higher levels of burnout (Talaee et al., 2020). Taking care of infected patients posed a great challenge to ICU nurses due to the need for continuous close contact with infected patients over a prolonged amount of time (Talaee et al., 2020). The health and well-being of the health care worker is critical to ensuring a comprehensive and uninterrupted delivery of care to patients (Chang et al., 2020).

In a qualitative study conducted to examine the challenges experienced by ICU nurses while caring for COVID-19 patients, the nurses reported the following problems: lack of organizational support, high workload, inadequate personal protective equipment (PPE) such as, medical masks, N95 respirators, protective gowns, shields, latex and disposable gloves, protective goggles, and special protective gear (Moradi et al., 2021). The nurses reported starvation due to missing meals and inadequate fluid intake in order to avoid using the bathroom due to burden of wearing the PPEs, leading to dehydration, urinary tract infection, and constipation (Moradi et al., 2021). The nurses in the qualitative study who cared for COVID-19 patients in the ICU were physically and psychologically overwhelmed (Moradi et al., 2021) consistent with burnout symptoms (Maslach & Leiter, 2016).

The problem of burnout among health care workers, which was exacerbated by the COVID-19 pandemic, has gained national attention, including that of the lawmakers. In August 2021, the U.S Senate unanimously passed the Dr. Lorna Breen Health Care Provider Protection Act, a bipartisan legislation supported by the Joint Commission to address serious health problems impacting health care workers, such as burnout, suicide, mental, and behavioral health conditions (Joint Commission Online, 2021). The legislation requires the US Department of Health and Human Services to provide a report to Congress on improving health care personal mental health and resiliency, including challenges to obtaining mental health care (Joint Commission Online, 2021).

Understanding how stress occurs is critical to finding an effective solution to burnout. Manzano-Garcia and Ayala (2017) examined factors contributing to burnout and found that perception and interpretation of work stressors by nurses also play a significant role in contributing to burnout and not only the characteristics of the work environment. Lazarus's (1984) theory of stress highlighted the critical role of perception and interpretation in stress. According to Barto and Burk (2017), the stressful and tumultuous nature of the ICU work environment is not likely to change, therefore; there is a need to train critical care nurses on skills that will enable them to think differently about stress as an effective way of coping with stress. Positive thinking focuses on the favorable aspect of things rather than the negative as an effective way of coping with stress (Matel-Anderson & Bekhet, 2018). Tully and Tao (2019) stated that the use of positive thinking skills in nursing is new because there was no prior study on positive thinking in managing work-related stress among nurses, therefore, recommended future research to be directed towards developing formal training for nurses on positive thinking skills. Therefore, this study addressed this gap identified in literature.

## **Purpose of the Study**

The purposes of my study were to determine if (a) there was a relationship between the use of positive thinking skills and burnout among critical care nurses, and (b) if there was a difference between the use of positive thinking skills and burnout among critical care nurses who have been working in critical care units for 1 year or less compared with critical care nurses who have been working in critical care more than 1 year.

#### **Research Questions and Hypotheses**

Research Question (RQ)1: What is the relationship between the use of positive thinking skills and burnout among critical care nurses?

 $H_01$ : There is no relationship between the use of positive thinking skills and burnout among critical care nurses.

 $H_{\rm a}$ 1: There is a relationship between the use of positive thinking skills and burnout among critical care nurses.

RQ2: What is the difference between the use of positive thinking skills and burnout in critical care nurses who have been working in critical care units for 1 year or less compared with critical care nurses who have been working in critical care more than 1 year?

 $H_02$ : There is no significant difference between the use of positive thinking skills and burnout in critical care nurses who have been working in critical care units for 1 year or less compared with critical care nurses who have been working in critical care more than 1 year.

 $H_a$ 2: There is a significant difference between the use of positive thinking skills and burnout in critical care nurses who have been working in critical care units for 1 year or less compared with critical care who have been working in critical care more than 1 year.

The independent variable was positive thinking skills, and the dependent variable was burnout for RQ1. For RQ2, the independent variable was the length of time as a critical care nurse, and the dependent variable was positive thinking skills and burnout levels.

I used two instruments in my study: the Maslach Inventory Burnout (MBI) to measure burnout and the Positive Thinking Skills Test Scale (PTSS) to measure the frequency of use of positive thinking skills.

#### Theoretical and/or Conceptual Framework for the Study

Stress is not new and has existed for centuries (Lazarus & Folkman, 1984). The concept of stress has only recently been systematically analyzed and a subject of research (Lazarus & Folkman, 1984). Lazarus's theory of stress, coping, and adaptation has been extensively used in studies on stress and coping and has become the cornerstone of

research in this area (Obbarius et al., 2021; Sharifabad et al. 2020). Lazarus and Folkman (1984) defined stress as a transaction between the person and the environment that is appraised by the person as challenging and beyond their capacity, which negatively impacts their well-being. Thus, Lazarus's theory of stress is commonly known as a transactional based theory. Cognitive appraisal is a critical factor in the theory of stress. Lazarus and Folkman defined cognitive appraisal as a process by which a person evaluates and interprets the stressors in their environment. According to Lazarus and Folkman, stress is not determined by the event itself, rather by the interpretation and perception of the person appraising the event. Thus, a person's interpretation and perception of an event gives meaning to the event and determines whether the event will be viewed in a positive or negative way. Lazarus and Folkman posited that the way a person appraises an event strongly affects their emotional response and ability to cope with the situation. The quality of life is linked to the way people evaluate and cope with the stresses of living (Lazarus & Folkman, 1984). More details on Lazarus's theory of stress, coping, and adaptation are presented in Chapter 2.

### Nature of the Study

I conducted a quantitative, correlational study to determine the relationship between the use of positive thinking skills and burnout among critical care nurses. Correlational studies are widely used in health care fields, where manipulation of the independent variable is not needed or possible (Curtis et al., 2016), and a change in one variable is associated with the change in another variable, either in the same direction (positive correlation) or opposite directions (negative correlations; Schober et al., 2018). I administered two different surveys to critical care nurses: the survey on positive thinking skills (independent variable) and another survey on burnout (dependent variable).

#### Definitions

*Acute care hospital*: A hospital that provides inpatient medical care, including surgery and acute medical conditions or injuries, mostly for a short-term health condition, Centers for Medicare and Medicaid (CMS), n.d.

*Burnout*: Burnout is a serious health problem characterized by overwhelming exhaustion, depersonalization and reduced professional efficacy due to prolonged exposure to work-related stressors (Maslach & Leiter, 2016).

*Critical care nurses:* Individuals with specialized training who provide care to very ill or unstable patients with life-threatening conditions across different care settings, including the ICU (Alharbi, 2019).

*Critical care unit:* Hospital units where very ill patients with life threatening conditions requiring comprehensive care and continuous monitoring are cared for by specially trained health care workers, such as critical care nurses (Mushonga et al., 2017).

*Perception*: A cognitive process by which an individual processes information for the purpose of assigning meaning to the environmental stimuli (Qiong, 2017). Perception involves three stages: selection, organization, and interpretation. Interpretation is the third stage of perception, which enables the person to give meaning to the stimuli (Qiong, 2017).

*Positive thinking:* Positive thinking is a cognitive process that encompasses a hopeful perspective about things, focusing on the favorable, rather than the negative

aspect of a situation, thereby helping a person to deal with problems more effectively (Matel-Anderson & Bekhet, 2018).

*Stress:* Stress is a transaction between the person and the environment that is appraised by a person as overtaxing and exceeding their ability to adequately cope with the event (Lazarus & Folkman, 1984).

### Assumptions

The first assumption was that critical care nurses do not desire to experience burnout and would like to experience less burnout in their work environment. Another assumption was that critical care nurses could respond honestly to the survey questions. A final assumption was that critical care nurses desire to be able to control their level of burnout.

#### **Scope and Delimitations**

My study methodology was quantitative, using a correlational design to determine if (a) there was a relationship between the use of positive thinking skills and burnout level among critical care nurses, and (b) if there was a difference between the use of positive thinking skills and burnout level in critical care nurses who have been working in critical care for 1 year or less compared with critical care nurses who have been working in critical care more than 1 year. I considered recruiting critical care nurses working in a hospital ICU as participants due to the high burnout that is prevalent among them and well documented in literature. I used convenience sampling. I could not conduct a qualitative study because the quantitative design is the design that best answered the research questions I proposed. Gray et al. (2017) stated that it is the researcher's choice to select the research design that will best answer the research questions.

The inclusion criteria included critical care nurses who worked in the ICUs. Excluded were critical care nurses who did not work in the ICUs. Lazarus's theory of stress model was selected to guide the study rather than a different model because it provides a basic understanding of how stress occurs. Understanding how stress occurs is key to finding an effective intervention to combat stress (Lazarus & Folkman, 1984). Lazarus's theory of stress focuses on a person's psychological response to stress, with cognitive appraisal as the centerpiece of the stress theory. Cognitive appraisal is the cornerstone of my proposed intervention study. Another stress theory I considered included Selye's theory of stress; however, it centered on the body's physiologic response to stress, which was not relevant to my proposed study. Kolcaba's theory of comfort was also considered for burnout, but it did not address the root cause of the stress.

### Limitations

Generalizability of my study results may be affected by the convenience sampling method I used to recruit the study participants. Another limitation was that the study population included only critical care nurses who worked in the ICU, so the results may not be generalizable to all nurses.

#### Significance

My study contributes new knowledge to the literature because there are a few studies on positive thinking and burnout in nursing, and none of the studies were found in critical care nursing in the United States. Given the highly stressful work environment of the critical care nurse (Awajeh et al., 2018; Barto & Burk, 2017), my study highlighted the significance of perception and interpretation of work stressors in reducing burnout, thus generating a new focus that can help critical care nurses to view their stressful environment in a positive rather than in a negative way in order to prevent and reduce burnout. The results of my study may be beneficial in developing formal training programs on positive thinking training for nurses as recommended by Tully and Tao (2019) in a prior study on positive thinking among acute care nurses. The results of my study may inform nursing policy, administration, and education. My study results may also be beneficial in providing information for developing wellness program to combat burnout among critical care nurses. The COVID-19 pandemic has highlighted the need to prioritize the health and well-being of nurses. Sovold et al. (2021) noted that frontline health care workers faced significant stressors and mental health challenges in their work during the pandemic, which poses a threat to quality care delivery. Sovold et al. recommended the need for urgent global public health priority on the mental and wellbeing of the healthcare workers, not only during a public health crisis, but on a day-today basis. Shah et al. (2021) cautioned that the United States may be facing an unstable nurse workforce in the future due to COVID-19 related burnout.

#### **Positive Thinking**

Positive thinking is a subfield in positive psychology. Positive thinking is a cognitive process that encompasses a hopeful perspective about things, focusing on the favorable, rather than the negative aspect of a situation, thereby helping a person to deal

with problems more effectively (Matel-Anderson & Bekhet, 2019). While burnout is associated with hopelessness and ineffective coping (Howell, 2021), positive thinking employs hopeful images and creativity that helps a person to cope more effectively (Bekhet & Zauszniewski, 2013). Positive thinking replaces negative thoughts present in burnout with positive thoughts. A person who uses positive thinking is less likely to be threatened by stressful events and will have better coping skills than those who have negative thoughts (Matel-Andersona & Bekhetb, 2019.). Frequent experiences of positive emotions and positive attitudes towards life have been linked to quality of life across one's lifespan (Park et al., 2016). Positive thinking reduces stress (Kooshalshah et al., 2015) and improves overall physical and emotional wellbeing (Tully & Tao, 2019). Therefore, the nurse can function at full potential to provide competent, compassionate, and empathic care to patients, fulfilling an essential role of the nurse (Hofmeyer et al., 2020). Higher staff engagement and satisfaction leads to reduced nurse turnover rates, which in turn promotes patient safety and quality, consequently improving financial and organizational performance outcomes (Perlo et al., 2017).

A positive work environment has been linked to positive outcomes (Ulrich et al., 2019). Copanitsanou et al. (2017) conducted a systematic review of literature on the effects of work environment on nurse outcomes and reported key findings linking positive outcomes to positive nursing work environment, which showed that patients who were hospitalized in a positive nursing work environment were more satisfied with the care they received from the nurses than patients who were not.

#### Summary

Nursing is a highly stressful job (Babapour, et al., 2022). Stress has long existed since the Florence Nightingale era, but it is now gaining more attention in literature due to the serious consequences of burnout on the nurses' health and wellbeing, patient safety and quality, and organizational and financial outcomes. The prevalence of burnout among critical care nurses is well documented in literature (Moss et al., 2016; Vahedian-Azimi et al., 2019; Wei et al., 2020; Zhang et al., 2020). The COVID-19 pandemic placed additional burden on the critical care nurses, compounding the problem. The problem of burnout has gained the attention of the critical care community and an urgent call to address the problem was issued (Moss et al., 2016). There is an urgent need to find a solution to burnout; however, key contributing factors to burnout, such as perception and interpretation of work stressors by nurses, have been overlooked by researchers. This gap revealed the need for my proposed study on burnout and positive thinking skills among critical care nurses. Chapter 2 includes a literature review on burnout and the theoretical framework of Lazarus's theory of stress.

#### Chapter 2: Literature Review

#### Introduction

The burnout epidemic among critical care nurses continues to worsen, and it has been exacerbated by the COVID-19 pandemic. Burnout is a global problem that adversely affects health care professionals (Vahedian-Azimi et al., 2019; Wei et al., 2020; Zhang et al., 2020). Burnout occurs across all disciplines but has been reported to be highly prevalent in the critical care environment among critical care nurses, affecting up to 80% of critical care nurses (Kumar et al., 2021). Burnout results from prolonged exposure to work-related stressors due to an imbalance in the work demands and resources available to the individual (Elbarazi et al., 2017). The interest in burnout and its effect on nurses has increased over the years due to the growing threat on the health and well-being of the nurse, patient safety, quality of care, and organizational and financial outcomes (Manzano-Garcia & Ayala, 2017). Numerous studies conducted have attributed the high burnout rate among critical care nurses to the stressful nature of their work environment (Alharbi et al., 2016, Awajeh et al., 2018; Cishahayo et al., 2017). However, there are other equally important factors that contribute to the level of burnout, such as the perception and interpretation of work stressors by the critical care nurse, which have been understudied (Manzano-Garcia & Ayala, 2017).

Freudenberger (1974) first described the term burnout and noted that the symptoms of burnout vary from person to person and often manifest after 1 year of employment. Freudenberger classified burnout into physical and behavioral symptoms. Physical symptoms include a feeling of exhaustion, tiredness, and a general feeling of unwellness, frequent headaches, lingering cold, gastrointestinal upsets, insomnia, and shortness of breath. Behavioral issues include irritability, being easily angered, and frustration. Freudenberger noted that the burnout individual is often emotional and cries easily. Burnout appears to be prevalent in the helping professions, such as nurses and physicians (Maslach & Leiter, 2016). Maslach and Leiter (2016) did extensive studies on burnout in psychiatry, which showed that the occurrence of burnout was due to the difficult and challenging patients they encountered, and the accompanying violence, anger, and hatred exhibited by the patients towards them. As a result, psychiatrists have demonstrated obvious behavioral changes towards patients, such as irritability, appearing fatigued, poor eye contact, and agitation (Maslcah & Leiter, 2016) Hence, burnout in psychiatry has been linked to poor care for patients (Maslach & Leiter, 2016). Also, psychiatrists may experience exhaustion, cynicism, low morale, and ineffective coping due to excessive workload.

Dr. Hert (2020) studied burnout among physicians and noted that the symptoms are complex and often vague and described five stages of burnout, stating that the symptoms differ depending on the stage of occurrence: honeymoon phase, onset of stress, chronic stress, burnout, and chronic habitual burnout (De Hert, 2020). The honeymoon stage is marked by enthusiasm and usually occurs during the early part of employment. The early part of the honeymoon stage is marked by sustained energy levels, optimism, and commitment to work. Later in the honeymoon phase, stagnation occurs, which is the onset of stress, and manifests as irritability, inability to focus, change in appetite, poor relationships, sleep disturbances, and decreased productivity. If adequate coping strategies are not identified, frustration follows. The stage of chronic stress as marked by chronic exhaustion, cynicism, and aggression. The fourth stage is burnout and is marked by apathy, persistent headaches, and gastrointestinal and behavioral issues. The fifth stage is marked by chronic sadness, chronic mental and physical fatigue, and depression (De Hert, 2020).

Patel (2018) reported that burnout in physicians manifest as depletion of energy, where physicians feel drained from work, and this affects their relationships, resulting in reduced commitment towards patients, colleagues, and families. Emotional impact follows (i.e., aggression, agitation) and impacts the physician's sense of accomplishment, motivation, and interest, which leads to despair. In a study conducted on burnout among Ethiopian nurses, researchers found that burnout symptoms may manifest as a lack of energy, motivation, frustration, tension and fatigue, and relationship problems due to depersonalization (Hailay et al., 2020). Burnout is a widespread occurrence across different disciplines; however, numerous studies around the world have shown that it is highly prevalent among critical care nurses and warns of the need to address the concerning trend (Alharbi et al., 2016; Awajeh et al., 2018; Moss et al., 2016). The purposes of my study were to determine if (a) there was a relationship between the use of positive thinking skills and burnout level among critical care nurses, and (b) if there was a difference between the use of positive thinking skills and burnout level among critical care nurses who have been working in critical care units for 1 year or less compared with critical care nurses who have been working in critical care more than 1 year.
#### **Literature Search Strategy**

I conducted a comprehensive search through the different databases: CINAHL, MEDLINE with Full Text/PubMed, PsycInfo, SocIndex, ScienceDirect, Academic Search, and Google search. The search filters I selected included full text scholarly articles, peer reviewed, from 2016 to 2021. I also used citation chaining in identifying more citations and reviewed reference lists to identify related articles. Terms were combined using Boolean phrases. Search terms included *burnout* or *burn-out* and *critical care* or *intensive care* or *ICU and nurs\** The search yielded 1,504 searches. Other search combinations included *burnout* or *burn-out* and *nurs\** and *positive thinking* or *optimism* or *positivity*. The search yielded 109 items. Critical care or intensive care or ICU was added to the search box and yielded seven articles.

#### **Theoretical Framework**

Lazarus and Folkman (1984) found that individual and group interpretations and reactions differ in their response to stress, even under comparable condition. While one person responds with anger, another with depression, another may feel challenged rather than threatened. Critics of Lazarus's theory of stress have argued that the individual differences in reactions are due to the environment. While Lazarus acknowledged that it is possible that a small portion of stress may be due to the environment but stated that stress is not entirely explainable by the environment. Lazarus's theory of stress highlights that a stress response is highly influenced by the person's appraisal process. The theory of stress emphasizes the relationship between the person and the environment, which takes into consideration, on one hand, the person characteristics and, on the other hand, the nature of the environment. The person and the environment relationship are consistent with the concept of illness, which has shifted because illness occurs not just based on the external organism but also on the susceptibility of the person (Lazarus & Folkman, 1984).

Lazarus reported that most of the early work on cognitive processes in stress came from field observations and studies of war, natural disasters, and debilitating diseases. The interest in stress research grew due to its significance in military combat in World War II and Korean War (Lazarus & Folkman, 1984). In the 1960s, Lazarus and his colleagues engaged in a systematic effort to study cognitive mediation. The study participants viewed the films of people being mutilated in primitive rites of passage and experiencing accidents in a woodworking shop. The premise was based on the tendencies for people to respond with stress at observing the plight of others. The heart rate and skin conductance were monitored during the study. Four methods were used to stimulate diverse stressors among the participants, and the results showed that cognitive appraisal processes mediated stress response levels.

Lazarus and Folkman (1984) described two main types of appraisals. Primary appraisal refers to the initial encounter with the event, where the person evaluates and interprets the event to determine its significance, whether it is irrelevant, benign-positive, and stressful. Stress appraisals include harm/loss, threat, or challenge. In secondary appraisal, the person evaluates their resources to determine whether they are able to appropriately manage the stress. Lazarus and Folkman noted that primary and secondary appraisal both shape the stress level and the strength and quality of the emotional reaction. The transactional model emphasized the need for appropriate appraisal of events to avoid undesirable consequences. Sharifabad et al. (2020) conducted a study to evaluate the effect of a training based on Lazarus and Folkman transactional model on improving stress appraisal for hemodialysis patients (HD). Appraisals are key determinants of coping strategies, so correct appraisal of stress is critical to HD patients in order to cope effectively with the stressful nature of their disease condition (Sharifabad et al. 2020). Sharifabad et al. conducted a quasi-experimental study and randomly assigned 116 patients to an experimental and control group. The experimental group received 8 weeks of training. The results of the study showed that the training had a positive effect on primary and secondary appraisals of the HD patients and can be used to improve appraisals of individuals in stressful situations (Sharifabad et al., 2020).

Lazarus and Folkman (1984) stated that an effective stress management program is one that influences the person to appraise situations and/or cope with demands in new ways. This highlights the critical role of perception and interpretation in stress. Therefore, uunderstanding how stress occurs is key to the effective management of stress (Lazarus & Folkman, 1984), including burnout. Burnout is work-related stress and occurs from prolonged exposure to stressors at work (Salvagioni, 2017). Figure 1 provides a visual guide to understanding how stress occurs because understanding how stress occurs is critical to identifying an effective solution to burnout. Lazarus theory of stress highlights the critical role of perception and interpretation of stress during the primary appraisal, at the initial encounter of an event. During the primary appraisal, the individual either interprets the event in a positive or in a negative way. In the secondary appraisal, the individual evaluates personal resources to determine if there are adequate resources to cope with the event. Depending on the outcome, the individual will either cope in an effective way or ineffective way, which leads to burnout. Coping involves identifying ways or resources to minimize, tolerate, or master the perceived threat (Lazarus & Folkman, 1984). In a study on work-related stress and positive thinking skills among acute care nurses, nurses with more positive coping skills reported that they used them when stressful events occurred (Tully & Tao, 2019).

# Figure 1

Stress Theoretical Framework Model



#### Literature Review Related to Key Variables and/or Concepts

## **Burnout: A Global Threat**

Alharbi et al. (2016) conducted a quantitative study to explore the prevalence of burnout and job satisfaction among Saudi national critical care nurses. The findings showed that Saudi national critical care nurses reported moderate to high levels of burnout (up to 82% on emotional exhaustion) and low levels of job satisfaction. Also, the findings revealed that burnout was a predictor of job satisfaction. The high levels of burnout were attributed to the work and highly stressful condition of the critical care setting. The researchers recommended improving the working condition of nurses in the critical care setting. The prevalence of burnout among critical care nurses and the continual focus in literature on the working environment of the nurse without equal focus on other equally important factors (i.e., nurses' perception and interpretation of work stressors) justifies the need for a different approach to addressing the chronic problem for burnout.

Alotni and Elgazzar (2020) conducted a quantitative study in Saudi Arabia to investigate burnout and determine the associated factors and the impact on the quality of life among critical care nurses. The findings showed a high burnout rate of up 90% among the non-Saudi nurses and 55.6% among Saudi nurses. The findings of the high burnout rate among critical care nurses in the Elgazzar (2020) study is consistent with the Alharbi et al (2016) study. Both studies found additional key variables that showed the adverse effect of burnout. The Alharbi study evaluated the effect of burnout on job satisfaction and found that burnout negatively impacted job satisfaction for the critical care nurses. Job satisfaction is a key metric for evaluating organizational performance and financial viability (Specchia et al., 2021). Alotni and Elgazzar found that the high burnout rate impacted the quality of life for the critical care nurses. Quality of life has been linked with decreased work performance, burnout, and early retirement (Alotni & Elgazzar, 2020). Burnout has also been linked with physical and psychological problems, absenteeism, increased nurse turnover, and negative impact on patient safety and quality (Alotni & Elgazzar, 2020) and showed the serious consequences of burnout on the wellbeing of the nurse and organizational performance.

Awajeh et al. (2018) conducted a quantitative study to explore the level of burnout among critical care nurses in Riyadh, Kingdom of Saudi Arabia. The findings showed a high burnout rate of 65.9% among the critical care nurses. The high burnout rate was attributed to the highly stressful work environment of the critical care nurses; high workload, nursing staff shortage, high nursing turnover, and compensation, including financial matters. The researchers reported a high turnover among the critical care nurses and the need to address the problem of burnout. The high burnout rate among critical care nurses reported in Awajeh et al.'s study is consistent with the findings in Alotni and Elgazzar's (2020) and Alharbi et al.'s (2016) studies, therefore validating the high prevalence of burnout among critical care nurses around the globe and the need for my study to address the global problem of burnout.

Swampy et al. (2020) conducted a quantitative study to evaluate the prevalence of burnout (including its contributing factors) among critical care nurses in Veterans Health Administration United States. Results showed that critical care nurses had the highest burnout rates of all nurse specialties, with one third to more than half of the critical care nurses reporting symptoms of burnout. This finding is critical to my study justifying the need for selecting the critical care nurses as the population of interest. Also, a subtheme of work perception emerged in the Swampy study, highlighting work perception as a contributing factor to burnout. Perception of work is relevant to my study as it pertains to how stress occurs based on Lazarus's theory of stress.

Cishahayo et al. (2017) conducted a quantitative study to determine the levels of burnout among critical care nurses in Rwanda. Results showed a high level of burnout: 61.7% among the participants. High workload was identified as a significant contributor to burnout. Also, the intention to leave was associated with burnout. Intention to leave constitutes a major issue in the critical care units leading to the loss of experienced nurses (Nantsupawat et al., 2017) and the high cost of replacing a critical care nurse presents significant challenge (Kurnat-Thoma, 2017). The high burnout rate and significant negative impact on the organization indicate that burnout is a major problem that needs to be addressed.

Elay et al. (2019) conducted a quantitative study in Turkey to examine the prevalence and risk factors for burnout among critical care workers in the ICU. The critical care workers included physicians (46%), nurses (51%), and other workers (3%). Burnout was reported in at least one burnout subscale in 99% of participants and reported in all three burnout subscales (emotional exhaustion, depersonalization, and reduced personal accomplishment) in 15% of the participants. Also, most ICU workers with burnout intended to leave. The findings on the high turnover among critical care is

consistent with Awajeh et al.'s (2018) and Cishahayo et al.'s (2017) studies. According to Kurnat-Thoma et al. (2017), employee turnover is a key performance indicator for assessing the fiscal and operational effectiveness of any health-care organization. Kurnat-Thoma et al. reported that the cost of replacing an ICU nurse in the United States ranges from \$36,657 to \$88,000, thus indicating significant economic cost with negative impact on the organizational performance and financial wellbeing.

### **COVID-19-Related Burnout**

The COVID-19 pandemic has worsened the problem of burnout among critical care nurses in the ICU. Greenberg et al. (2021) conducted a quantitative study to identify the rates of probable mental health disorder in staff working in ICUs in nine English hospitals during June and July 2020. The participants included physicians, nurses and other health care workers in the ICU. The authors reported that staff working in the ICU during the first wave of COVID-19 pandemic faced significant challenges and frustrations due to the high risk of COVID-19 exposure for prolonged time, issues with PPE, staffing and daily equipment shortages. About 175,000 patients admitted to the hospital with COVID-19 received critical care in specialized units in the United Kingdom. As a result, ICU workers were overwhelmed with the care of COVID-19 patients. Also, the ICU nurse patient ratio was modified to accommodate the surge, as existing staffing shortages were compounded by staff sickness and quarantines. The results of the study showed that physicians reported better mental health than nurses and the high rates of probable mental health disorders and thoughts of self-harm were mostly

prevalent among critical care nurses, indicating the need to improve their mental health and the ICU working environment (Greenberg et al., 2021).

Bruyneel et al. (2021) conducted a quantitative study to assess the prevalence of burnout among ICU nurses in Belgium and to identify their risk factors during the COVID-19 pandemic. The findings showed that the burnout prevalence rate was 68%. Two-thirds of ICU nurses were reported to be at risk for burnout. The high burnout rate was attributed to the workload during the pandemic. The main risk factors for burnout during the COVID-19 pandemic was the high patient to nurse ratio, greater than 1:2, a perceived increase in workload and a shortage of PPE. The COVID-19 pandemic worsened the problem of burnout among critical care nurses. The surge of very ill patients requiring ICU level of care during the COVID -19 pandemic highlighted the need to promote the health and well-being of the critical care nurses in order for the nurse to function at their full capacity to provide safe and quality care, since they cannot give what they do not have (Armstrong et al., 2020). The United States may be facing an unstable nurse workforce in the future due to the serious impact of COVID-19 related burnout (Shah et al., 2020). Thus, justifying the need for my proposed study to address burnout among critical care nurses.

Galanis et al. (2021) reported that nurses experienced high levels of stress during the COVID-19 pandemic attributable to the high workload due to the surge of patients. Also, the nurses in the critical care units experienced intense emotions from witnessing the suffering and death of many very ill patients. There was also the additional burden of acute shortage of PPE and the accompanying fear of contracting the disease and transmitting it to other people, including family members (Shreffler, 2020). Ross (2020) stated that suicide is a likely consequence of COVID-related burnout among nurses, therefore, recommended that organizations should take proactive steps in preventing it. The rising rate of COVID-19 related burnout and its deleterious effects, including implications for future care support the need for my study to address the worsening problem of burnout.

### **Burnout and Patient Safety**

Patient safety is at the forefront of the healthcare agenda since the landmark 1999 Institute of Medicine (IOM) report titled "To err is human: Building a safer health system." Bates and Singh (2018) in their study on the progress in patient safety noted that although additional work is still needed, there has been significant research and effective interventions for hospital-acquired infections and medication safety since the 1999 IOM report. Patients in the critical care units are severely ill with life threatening conditions, thus requiring the nurse to function competently in order to manage the complexity and high demands in a fast paced, high-pressure environment (Scholtz et al., 2016). Burnout diminishes the ability of the nurse to function at their full potentials to meet the patient care expectations due to overwhelming exhaustion, which can compromise patient safety (Mudallal et al., 2017).

Depersonalization, another key characteristic of burnout, manifests as negative attitude (cynicism), lack of empathy and detachment of the nurse from the patient (Kumar et al., 2021). The nurse becomes insensitive to patient care and may view the patient and colleagues as objects (Kumar et al., 2021). Unprofessional behavior and disruptive

behavior have been linked to burnout (Rehder et al., 2020). Disruptive behavior has serious consequences on patient safety, such as increased frequency of medical errors and quality of care issues and is harmful to the psychological safety and wellbeing of team members. (Rehder et al., 2020). Reith (2018) reported that high burnout rates have been linked with health care associated infections. Jia et al. (2019) stated that health care associated infection is a major problem worldwide and leads to significant increase in length of stay, morbidity, and mortality. The harmful consequences of burnout on patient safety and the health care organization justifies the need for my study to address the problem of burnout.

Mamari et al. (2020) conducted a quantitative study to determine whether there was a relationship between the variables fatigue, workload, burnout and work environment, and perceived patient safety among critical care nurses in Oman. The results showed that burnout was a predictor for perceptions of patient safety among critical care nurses. Perception of patient safety refers to the critical care nurses' point of view of the factors that impact patient safety (i.e., burnout. Perceptions of safety is important because it is crucial to putting systems in place to promote patient safety. Also, in the study, other variables, such as years of experience and intention to change department were significantly linked with burnout. The finding on the years of experience and burnout is consistent with the Al Shehri et al. (2012) study which found that the level of stress increased among nurses with more years of professional experience. Burnout was linked to lower perception of patient safety. The researchers highlighted that patient safety culture is an essential ingredient in delivering high quality health care. Therefore, the need for my study to address the serious problem of burnout, which has negative impact on patient safety culture.

The impact of burnout on the health, well-being, job performance of critical care nurses and its association with patient safety and quality is well documented in literature. The nurse with burnout is unable to function to full capacity due to the reduced energy level from emotional exhaustion (Mudallal et al., 2017). Psychological symptoms include frustration, fear, anger, misery and a lack of interest in work (Barto & Burk, 2017). Other symptoms include cynicism, resentment, hopelessness and powerlessness (Mushonga et al., 2017) which lead to poor relationship with patients and colleagues and is detrimental to patient safety and quality (Howell, 2021 & Paraguassú-Chaves et al., 2021). Physical signs include exhaustion, fatigue, sleeplessness headache and gastrointestinal problems (Moss et al., 2016). Consequently, excessive absenteeism results which negatively impacts patient care (Moss et al., 2016). Loss of personal accomplishment, a key characteristic of burnout manifests as negative self-assessment and low self-esteem (Kumar et al., 2020). Suicidal tendencies have also been reported among critical care staff (Moss et al., 2016). Ruiz-Fernández et al. (2020) conducted a study to analyze the quality of life of nursing professionals. The results showed high levels of burnout have a negative impact on the quality of life. The impact on quality of life negatively affects the nurses' ability to function at an optimum level to provide quality and safe care (Mudallal et al., 2017). Therefore, justifying a need to address the serious problem of burnout.

#### **Burnout and the Nurses' Working Environment**

Ulrich et al. (2019) conducted a mixed methods study to evaluate the current state of work environment of the critical care nurse. The results showed that patient and nurse outcomes have been associated with work environment. The key findings of the study were that 60% of participants reported inadequate staffing, 6017 participants reported physical and mental wellbeing issues, one-third of the participants expressed the intent to leave their current positions in the next 12 months. Evidence of positive outcomes were reported following the implementation of AACN Healthy Work Environment standards: skilled communication, true collaboration, effective decision making, meaningful recognition, appropriate staffing, and authentic leadership. Studies on burnout in the critical care setting focused on the work environment (Monroe et al., 2020; Moss et al., 2016; Ulrich et al., 2019), thus, overlooking other equally important contributing factors, such as factors relating to the way individuals perceive and interpret the work environment. Manzano-Garcia and Ayala (2017) pointed out that while factors relating to the working conditions play a large role in the development of burnout, other equally important factors, such as perception and interpretation of stressors by the nurse have been under studied. Perception and interpretation of stressors are key components in understanding how stress occurs as proposed in Lazarus' theory of stress, the theoretical framework for my study. Thus, justifying the need for my study.

Melnyk et al. (2021) conducted a quantitative study to investigate the associations among critical care nurses' physical and mental health, perception of workplace wellness support, and self-reported medical errors. Results showed that medical errors were significantly higher among nurses who reported poor physical and mental health than nurses who were in better health. Burnout was found to have a negative impact on the wellbeing and health of critical care nurses. The researchers concluded that the key to combating burnout was to address system issues that contribute to it, such as inadequate staffing, long shifts. This approach focuses on the nurses' work environment overlooking other important factors that contribute to burnout, such as perception and interpretation of work stressors, as identified by Manzano-Garcia and Ayala (2017).

Kelly et al. (2021) conducted a quantitative study to identify the key elements of a healthy work environment associated with burnout, secondary trauma, and compassion satisfaction, as well as the effect of burnout and the work environment on nurse turnover. Results showed that 61% of the critical care nurses experienced moderate burnout. Kelly et al. (2021) identified authentic leadership, meaningful recognition and appropriate staffing as key predictors of burnout. In another study, Monroe et al. (2020) conducted a quantitative study to investigate which AACN healthy work environment standards have the strongest impact on professional quality of life in critical care nurses. Participants in the study reported a high burnout rate. Findings also identified authentic leadership, as a key predictor of burnout and recommended improvement in leadership style in order to combat burnout.

Wei et al. (2020) conducted a systematic review and meta-analysis to evaluate the impact of nurse leadership on nurse burnout. The review included 18 articles from 2010 to 2019. The results showed that nurse leadership played a significant role in reducing burnout. So, the recommendations for reducing burnout included: evaluating leadership

styles, appropriate staffing levels, promoting recognition, creating supportive, respectful and healthy work environment. Wei et al. (2020) focused on addressing factors within the nurses' work environment in order to combat burnout. Hence, leading to interventions that are work environment driven, which has not effectively addressed the problem of burnout, given that burnout remains a challenge. Contrary to the Kelly, Melnyk and Monroe studies, Manzano-Garcia and Ayala's (2017) in their study identified potentially important factors contributing to burnout in nursing that have been under researched. According to Manzano-Garcia and Ayala, although factors pertaining to the nurses' work environment contribute significantly to burnout, perception and interpretation of work stressors by the nurse equally play key role in contributing to burnout, so needs more research. Manzano-Garcia and Ayala stated that positive perception of work has been associated with decreased burnout rate and negative perception of work has been associated with increased burnout rate, therefore, recommended the need for nurses to be empowered to know their personal strength in influencing their work environment positively.

#### **Burnout Interventions**

Aryankhesal et al. (2019) conducted a systematic review of interventions on burnout among physicians and nurses. A total of 18 studies were included in the review from 2010-2017. The existing interventions were on improving communication skills, teamwork, participatory programs, and individual based interventions, such as Yoga, meditation, and mindfulness. The authors reported that 50% of interventions had a positive impact on physicians' burnout and 67% a positive impact on nurses' burnout. Zhang et al. (2020) conducted a systematic review and meta-analyses to summarize existing interventions to reduce burnout among physicians and nurses. A total of 22 studies from 2014 to 2019 were included. A variety of burnout interventions were included in the study, such as individual-focused, i.e., yoga, mindfulness, meditation. Organizational interventions, i.e., workload or schedule rotation, teamwork and focus group. Combine interventions, such as improving interaction with colleagues through personal training. The authors in the Aryankhesal et al. (2019) and Zhang et al. (2020) studies acknowledged that burnout is a complex problem that still requires a solution. The interventions in both studies focused mostly on the work environment and work relationships. None of the interventions included positive thinking skills or addressed the nurses' perception or interpretation of work stressors.

Luo et al. (2019) conducted a quasi-experimental study to evaluate the effect of positive psychological intervention of recording three good things on reducing nurses' burnout. The findings showed that burnout decreased among the nurses in the study group upon completion of the intervention. In another study, Kooshalshah et al. (2015) conducted a quasi-experimental study to evaluate the effect of positive thinking on the nurses' job stress. 69.5% of nurses reported severe stress, 27.6% moderate and 2.9% had low stress levels. The results showed a reduction in the nurses' stress test scores post intervention based on the paired t-test results (p < 0.001) and they concluded that the positive thinking educational intervention reduced the job stress among the nurses. Luo et al. (2019) and Kooshalshah et al. (2015) used positive psychology approach in their studies and the nurses who participated in the studies worked in different nursing

specialties However, there are a lack of studies on the relationship between burnout and positive thinking skills among nurses who work in the critical care setting. Therefore, justifying the need for my study among critical care nurses.

### **Summary and Conclusions**

Burnout is a global threat to the well-being, physical, mental and emotional health of critical care nurses with deleterious effects on patient safety and quality, financial and organizational outcomes. Burnout was first identified in 1974 by the psychologist, Freudenberger who also experienced burnout symptoms with his colleagues while working in a free clinic. The symptoms of burnout are debilitating and are consistent across disciplines. Burnout is characterized by three main dimensions: emotional exhaustion, depersonalization and feeling of lack of accomplishment (Maslach & Leiter, 2016). Serious consequences of suicidal ideations have been reported among nurses (Moss et al., 2016). The growing problem of burnout threatens to derail the progress on patient safety, which were highlighted in the Bates and Singh (2018) study. Consequences of burnout on patient safety include medical errors and hospital acquired infections. (Jia et al., 2019). Burnout is highly prevalent among critical care nurses (Alharbi et al; Alotni & Elgazzar, 2020). The COVID-19 pandemic has placed additional stress level on the critical care nurses due to the many patients requiring ICU level of care (Galanis et al. & Shreffler, 2020).

There is a consensus in the literature that burnout is a serious health problem deserving urgent attention (Bruyneel et al., 2021; Cishahayo et al., 2017 & Moss et al., 2016). However, there is no consensus on the solution to address burnout (Moss et al;

Tully & Tao, 2019). Identifying key contributing factors and causes of burnout is important in combating the problem of burnout. Therefore, understanding how stress occurs is critical to finding an effective solution. Lazarus theory of stress highlighted the importance of perception and interpretation in stress. Manzano-Garcia and Ayala (2017) pointed out that the way the nurse perceives or interprets work stressors will determine whether the work stressor will be viewed in a positive or negative way. Therefore, there is a need for my proposed study which includes the use of positive thinking skills among critical care nurses.

In Chapter 3, I will describe the research design, rationale and methodology of conducting my study. The population, sampling and sampling procedure, recruitment of participants, data collection will be detailed in this section.

#### Chapter 3: Research Method

The purpose of my study was to determine (a) if there was a relationship between the use of positive thinking skills and the burnout among critical care nurses, and (b) if there was a difference between the use of positive thinking skills and the burnout among critical care nurses who have been working in critical care units for 1 year or less compared with critical care nurses who have been working in critical care more than 1 year.

### **Research Design and Rationale**

I conducted a quantitative descriptive study using a correlational design in which I performed Pearson correlation to determine the relationship between the use of positive thinking skills and burnout among critical care nurses. Gray et al. (2017) stated that correlational design is used to determine the strength and direction of relationships among variables. I selected the correlational design because it was the design that would best answer RQ1. When selecting a research design, it is important to select the design that will best answer the research question (Gray et al., 2017). I also conducted a comparative analysis to determine the difference between the use of positive thinking skills and the level of burnout in critical care nurses who have been working in critical care for 1 year or less compared with critical care nurses who have been working in critical care more than 1 year. I selected the comparative analysis design because it is the research design that would best answer RQ2. Gray et al. stated that comparative design compares two or more groups to determine the differences and does not involve manipulation.

#### **Research Questions and Hypotheses**

RQ1: What is the relationship between the use of positive thinking skills and the burnout among critical care nurses?

 $H_01$ : There is no relationship between the use of positive thinking skills and burnout among critical care nurses.

 $H_{a}1$ : There is a relationship between the use of positive thinking skills and burnout among critical care nurses.

RQ2: What is the difference between the use of positive thinking skills and burnout among critical care nurses who have been working in critical care units for 1 year or less compared with critical care nurses who have been working in critical care more than 1 year?

 $H_02$ : There is no significant difference between the use of positive thinking skills and burnout among critical care nurses who have been working in critical care units for 1 year or less compared with critical care nurses who have been working in critical care units more than 1 year.

 $H_a2$ : There is a significant difference between the use of positive thinking skills and burnout among critical care nurses who have been working in critical care units for 1 year or less compared with critical care nurses who have been working in critical care more than 1 year.

## Methodology

## **Population**

The target population was critical care nurses who worked in critical care units. Critical care nurses were recruited from an acute care hospital located in Southern United States.

## **Sampling and Sampling Procedures**

I used convenience sampling. Convenience sampling is a method where participants are easily available and accessible. Convenience sampling is less time consuming and less expensive than other sampling methods (Gray et al., 2017), and it was the most feasible option for recruiting participants given the COVID-19 pandemic challenges, which exacerbated nurse staffing shortages and nurse turnover. Gray et al. (2017) recommended the need to apply reasonable knowledge and care when implementing the study to ensure sampling adequacy. Researchers can control for inherent issues in convenience sampling, such as biases, by identifying and thoroughly describing the issues, including taking action to improve the representativeness of the sample (Gray et al., 2017). I calculated the sample size with G-power. The sample size for my correlational study with one independent variable was 55 with a medium effect size of 0.15, alpha 0.05, and power 0.80 (Faul et al., 2007). The comparative design had two groups, one independent variable and two dependent variables; the sample size calculated was 158 (79 in each group), with a medium effect size of 0.625, alpha was 0.05, and power of 0.80. (Faul et al., 2007).

#### **Procedures for Recruitment, Participation, and Data Collection**

I began data collection after receiving IRB approval. I recruited participants using the flyer (see Appendix A) to announce the proposed study; the flyer also contained the inclusion and exclusion criteria. I posted the flyer on the critical care units at strategic locations visible on the unit and included my contact information. I also distributed the flyer during a briefing session to recruit study participants. The briefing session was coordinated with the assistance of the critical care nursing leadership team. In the session, I informed critical care nurses of my study purpose, online completion of the survey, and that participation was voluntary, and they were given the opportunity to ask questions. I informed them of confidentiality of their information and that I would not ask for any personal information that would identify them.

I provided a SurveyMonkey link to participants through their emails. Upon clicking on the SurveyMonkey link, the individual received an overview of my study and my contact information and was asked to accept or decline to participate. If the individual nurse clicked on agree button to participate, the survey advanced to the screening questions (see Appendix B), which included the eligibility criteria. If the individual was not eligible, the screen closed and thanked them for their time. If the individual was eligible, the computer screen advanced to the demographic data sheet (see Appendix C), after which they saw the MBI survey and finally the PTSS survey. Upon completion of all surveys, they clicked the submit button to submit their responses and the screen closed and thanked them for their participation. The de-identified data were available to me or my research dissertation committee. I will retain the data for 5 years as required by the IRB.

#### **Instrumentation and Operationalization of Constructs**

I used the MBI, which was developed by Maslach and Jackson in 1981 to operationalize burnout. MBI is a leading measure for burnout and has been widely used in studies involving health care professions, physicians, medical students, and nurses, including critical care nurses (Maslach & Leiter, 2016). MBI is a self-administered instrument that takes 10 to 15 minutes to complete (Maslach et al., 1997). The MBI is a 22 item-scale that measures burnout in three dimensions: exhaustion (9 items), depersonalization (5 items), and personal achievement (8 items; Maslach et al., 1997). Higher mean scores on the exhaustion and depersonalization subscales represent higher degrees of burnout experienced (Maslach et al., 1997). In contrast to the exhaustion and depersonalization subscales, the personal accomplishment subscale is independent, and lower mean scores represent higher degrees of burnout experienced (Maslach et al., 1997). The MBI is a continuous variable that uses a Likert scale, ranging from 0 to 7, with 0 being *never* and 7 being *every day*. The scores for each response on the subscale are added up and compared with the scoring results interpretation values to determine the level of burnout: high, medium, and low (Maslach & Jackson, 1981).

MBI is a valid and reliable instrument that has been used globally to measure burnout (Alharbi et al., 2016; Maslach & Leiter, 2016). According to Maslach and Jackson (1981), reliability coefficients were established only on a second sample (N=420). The first sample was not used to avoid inflating the reliability estimates due to intercorrelations. Internal consistency was estimated by Cronbach's coefficient alpha, with reliability coefficients of 0.83 (frequency) and 0.84 (intensity) for the 25-item scale. Maslach and Jackson reported the following reliability coefficients for the subscales: 0.89 (frequency) and 0.86 (intensity) for emotional exhaustion, 0.74 (frequency) and 0.74 (intensity) for personal accomplishment, 0.77 (frequency) and 0.72 (intensity) for depersonalization, and 0.59 (frequency) and 0.57 (intensity) for involvement. All of the coefficients for the test-retest reliability coefficients were significant beyond the 0.001 level: The test-retest reliability coefficients for the subscales were 0.82 (frequency) and 0.53 (intensity) for emotional exhaustion (EE), 0.80 (frequency) and 0.68 (intensity) for personal accomplishment (PA), 0.60 (frequency) and 0.65 (intensity) for involvement (Maslach & Jackson, 1981).

Convergent validity was established in three ways First, MBI scores of an individual were correlated with behavioral scores rated independently by someone who knew the person, such as spouse. Second, MBI scores were correlated with specific job characteristics that contributed to burnout. Third, MBI scores were correlated with measures that were attributed to burnout. All three were reported to provide significant evidence of validity. In a study on burnout among health care workers in critical care units in Turkey, Elay et al. (2019) reported the following values for Cronbach's alpha coefficients: 0.81 for EE, 0.70 for DP, and 0.77 for PA, and 0.92 for all 22 scale items. In another study of burnout among critical care nurses done in Saudi Arabia, Alharbi et al. (2016) reported that the Cronbach's alpha for the MBI was 0.80 with a range of 0.79 to

0.81 for the items and subscales, which is an acceptable level of reliability. I have permission to use MBI in my study (see Appendices E- H). Thus, I provided MBI online for the participants in my study to complete.

The second instrument I used for this study was the PTSS, which I used to measure the frequency of use of positive thinking skills among critical care nurses. The PTSS was first developed in 2013 by two nursing faculties following extensive literature review (Matel-Anderson & Bekhet, 2019). Positive thinking is a cognitive process that encompasses a hopeful perspective about things, focusing on the favorable, rather than the negative aspect of a situation, thereby helping a person to deal with problems more effectively (Matel-Anderson & Bekhet, 2018). The PTSS is used in measuring the frequency of use of positive thinking skills. The PTSS is an 8-item scale that measures eight skills used in positive thought process (Bekhet & Zauszniewski, 2013). The PTSS is a continuous variable with a 4-point Likert scale and the following response options: 0 to 3 (0 = never, 1 = sometimes, 2 = most of the time, and 3 = always). The total scores range from 0 to 24. Positive scores indicate higher scores, which means a higher frequency of use of positive thinking skills (Bekhet & Zauszniewski, 2013).

The PTTS is a valid and reliable tool that measures the frequency of use of positive thinking skills (Bekhet & Garnier-Villarreal, 2017; Matel-Anderson & Bekhet, 2019; Tully & Tao, 2019) and has been used among different populations, including college students, caregivers in studies for autism spectrum disorders, depression, and suicide (Bekhet & Garnier-Villarreal, 2017; Matel-Anderson & Bekhet, 2019). In a study with caregivers of persons with autism spectrum disorders, Bekhet and Zauszniewski

(2013) reported the following acceptable internal consistency (alpha .90) and construct validity, using a measure of positive cognitions (r = .53; p < .01), resourcefulness (r = .63; p < .01), depression (r = -.45; p < .01), and general well-being (r = .40; p < .01). Tully and Tao (2019) reported that their study was the first to establish the reliability and validity of the PTSS among nurses. The internal consistency of PTSS was tested using Cronbach's alpha. The Cronbach's alpha was 0.89 for the 8-item scale, indicating adequate internal consistency. All items to total scale correlations ranged from .051 to 0.80, which were within acceptable range because they were higher than 0.33 (Tully & Tao, 2019). The construct validity of the PTSS was tested using confirmative factor analysis. The final mode assessment results were acceptable ( $\chi 2 / df$ , 2.92 (acceptable; Tully & Tao, 2019). A pilot study conducted following an online positive thinking training intervention showed that the mean scores of positive thinking skills scale improved for the intervention group and decreased for the control group in a sample of 73 caregivers (Bekhet & Garnier-Villarreal, 2017).

## Data Analysis Plan

The data analysis plan is critical to a successful research outcome. Gray et al. (2017) stated the need to thoroughly plan out the details of the statistical analysis prior to data collection, pointing out that failing to do so can lead to collecting unnecessary data or not collecting data that will answer the research question. I used online surveys in my study, and this helped to minimize errors associated with manual data entry. Upon completion of surveys, I checked for completeness, errors, and accuracy of data. I checked for accuracy of the data by searching for values that were outside the range of

each variable. In addition, identifying ways to address missing data is an essential part of data planning. If a large number of data are missing, I determined whether I had sufficient data to run the statistical tests needed. According to Gray et al., in some cases, the participants must be excluded from the analysis due to missing essential data. Missing data can be estimated; however, it involves a complex procedure (Gray et al., 2017). I analyzed my data with the statistical package for social sciences (SPSS) version 28. SPSS is a commonly used software for data analysis (Gray et al., 2017) and has been used in several studies, including the following studies on burnout among critical care nurses: Alharbi et al., 2016; Alotni & Elgazzar, 2020; Awajeh et al., 2018.

I performed Pearson correlation to answer my RQ1, which was to determine if there was a relationship between the use of positive thinking skills and the burnout level among critical care nurses. The independent variable was positive thinking skills, and the dependent variable was burnout. Pearson correlation is used to examine relationships or association among variables (Gray et al., 2017). Correlation analysis provides information on the strength and direction (positive or negative) of the linear relationship between the two variables but does not provide information on causality, no matter how strong the relationship is (Gray et al., 2017). Pearson correlation uses variables measured at the interval level of measurement, as the case in this study. Gray et al. (2017) highlighted the need to ensure that the independent variables are not strongly correlated with one another leading to multicollinearity.

I used multivariate analysis of variance (MANOVA) to answer my RQ2, which was to determine if there was a difference between the use of positive thinking skills and burnout level among critical care nurses who had been working in critical care for 1 year or less compared with critical care nurses who had been working in critical care for more than 1 year. The MANOVA is an extension of a one-way analysis of variance (ANOVA; Warner, 2013). The MANOVA is used to compare two or more groups and analyze the differences in the pattern of means on the dependent variable (Warner, 2013). The independent variable for RQ2 was length of time as a critical care nurse, and the dependent variables were positive thinking skills and burnout level. The MANOVA is an efficient way of comparing multiple groups, rather than conducting separate ANOVA for each individual outcome, which can be cumbersome and can lead to Type 1 error (Warner, 2013).

#### **Threats to Validity**

#### **External Validity**

External validity refers to the degree to which the research results can be generalizable back to the population (Gray et al., 2017). Threat to external validity in this study could result due to the selection of a specific specialty, the critical care nurses, which limits the generalizability to all nurses in general.

#### **Internal Validity**

Internal validity refers to changes that occur in the dependent variable that are due to extraneous factors, factors other than the independent variable. Threats to internal validity include attrition. Gray et al (2017) described attrition as the loss of participants after the study had started. The COVID -19, pandemic has led to nurses leaving the profession (Shah et al., 2021) which could impact the study. According to Gray et al.

(2017), obtaining a large sample can be used to control for this issue. History is also a threat to validity. Gray et al. (2017) defined history as other factors external to the study that affects the outcome of the study. The COVID-19 pandemic associated burnout likely generated increased attention on the need to promote wellness and positivity among health care works (Melnyk et al., 2021). Gray et al. (2017) described statistical conclusion validity as the appropriateness of selecting the correct statistical test for the study. In preparation for the study, I had a one-on-one consultation with a statistician in order to address threats to statistical conclusion validity.

### **Ethical Procedures**

Data collection is contingent upon approval by IRB. I received IRB approval # 32647-01. All IRB procedures pertaining to human participants were followed. I contacted the leadership team at my proposed hospital site for research to determine the feasibility of the study. The leadership staff expressed willingness to allow critical care nurses who were willing to participate and I met with them prior to the study to explain the study and answer any questions they had. I informed the critical care nurses that participation is voluntary, and they can elect to terminate anytime they choose to. Also, I informed them of the informed consent process. The informed consent is a critical piece of the study which validated autonomy and free of persuasion, manipulation or coercion (Perez et al., 2017). Confidentiality of data is vital and I strictly followed the IRB regulations. I or my dissertation committee had access to the data. I plan to destroy the data after five years consistent with university guidelines. I used cloud storage as a backup. Data were collected through SurveyMonkey. I emphasized the deidentification of

information to the critical care nurses to allay fears or anxiety which may arise relating to the sensitive information on burnout they provided.

### Summary

In Chapter 3, I provided an overview of the methodology and research design for my proposed study. The study design was a correlational (RQ1) and comparative design (RQ2). I selected Pearson correlation and MANOVA statistical tests for my study as they are the statistical tests that will best answer RQ1 and RQ2 respectively. I used two instruments for my study, MBI and PTSS. The validity and reliability of MBI and PTSS are well documented in literature. MBI is termed the "gold standard" for measuring burnout (Williamson et al., 2018) and has been used globally in numerous studies, including burnout among critical care nurses. I provided details on the administration and scoring of the instruments. The surveys were completed online, including the study information content and demographics. No personal information was obtained to ensure confidentiality. All ethical procedures were followed according to IRB protocol. The recruitment process took place in the acute care hospital setting and eligible participants were recruited through convenience sampling. I conducted a power analysis using G power to calculate the sample size. In Chapter 4, I discuss data collection and the results of my study.

#### Chapter 4: Results

The purpose of my study was to determine (a) if there was a relationship between the use of positive thinking skills and burnout among critical care nurses, and (b) if there was a difference between the use of positive thinking skills and burnout among critical care nurses who had been working in critical care units for 1 year or less compared with critical care nurses who had been working in critical care more than 1 year. The research questions for my study were as follows:

RQ1: What is the relationship between the use of positive thinking skills and the burnout among critical care nurses?

 $H_01$ : There is no relationship between the use of positive thinking skills and burnout among critical care nurses.

 $H_{a}1$ : There is a relationship between the use of positive thinking skills and burnout among critical care nurses.

RQ2: What is the difference between the use of positive thinking skills and burnout among critical care nurses who have been working in critical care units for 1 year or less compared with critical care nurses who have been working in critical care more than 1 year?

 $H_02$ : There is no significant difference between the use of positive thinking skills and burnout among critical care nurses who have been working in critical care units for 1 year or less compared with critical care nurses who have been working in critical care more than 1 year.  $H_a$ 2: There is a significant difference between the use of positive thinking skills and burnout among critical care nurses who have been working in critical care units for 1 year or less compared with critical care nurses who have been working in critical care more than 1 year.

#### **Data Collection**

I collected data at two hospitals located in Southern United States. I had planned to collect data for 2 to 3 weeks following IRB approval; however, data collection was extended to achieve the minimum sample size for one of my RQ2 groups, critical care nurses who had been working in critical care for 1 year or less. As a result, data collection took place at two different hospitals. Data collection at the first hospital occurred from April 2022 to July 2022 and at the second hospital from August 2022 to September 2022. Both hospitals had similar characteristics and demographics. At the first hospital, the survey links were emailed to all critical care nurses (208 surveys) in the hospital, and 139 (66.8%) responses were received. At the second hospital, 263 survey links were emailed to critical care nurses in the hospital using the SurveyMonkey platform, and 155 responded (58.9%). The surveys were completed using SurveyMonkey platform. Data were exported to SPSS version 28 for data analysis. Data cleaning and screening was done. The sample was representative of the population at the hospitals where data were collected. A total sample size of 294 was received. The final sample size was 242 (82%). The excluded samples included individuals who were not critical care nurses as they had indicated on the survey, individuals who declined to participate, and

partial responses (individuals who responded only to demographic questions or did not respond to any question).

# Results

Demographic data showed that the ages of most participants were 26 to 35 years (46.2%), they were mostly females (74.8%), single (52.1%), of Asian/Pacific (50.4%) origin, and had a bachelor's degree (71.1%). Demographic data are outlined in Tables 1 to 6.

## Table 1

# Age of the Participants

Age	Responses	Percentages
25 years or less	10	4.1
26-35	107	46.2
36-45	76	31.4
46-55	36	14.9
56-65	13	5.4

## Table 2

Gender of the Participants

Gender	Responses	Percentages
Male	61	25.2
Female	181	74.8

## Table 3

Marital Status of Participants

Marital status	Responses	Percentages
Married	116	47.9
Single	126	52.1

# Table 4

Race of Participants
----------------------

Race	Responses	Percentages
White	33	14.6
Black/African American	17	7.0
Hispanic/Latino	59	24.4
Asian/Pacific	122	50.4
Native American	1	.4
Other	10	4.1

# Table 5

Level of Education of Participants

Level of education	Responses	Percentages
Associate degree	50	20.7
Bachelor's degree	172	71.1
Masters' degree	20	8.3

Data in Table 6, time as critical care nurse showed that most participants (43.4%)

worked as critical care nurses for 2 to 7 years, and the least number of participants (5%)

worked as critical care nurses for more than 25 years.

## Table 6

Time as critical care nurse	Responses	Percentages
1 year or less	44	18.2
2-7 years	105	43.4
8-13 years	35	14.5
14-19 years	30	12.4
20-25 years	16	6.6
More than 25 years	12	5.0

Time as Critical Care Nurse

I used two survey tools for my study, the MBI and PTSS, and prepared the data analysis using the guidelines provided by the authors of both tools. The MBI had three subscales: EE, DP, and PA. Each subscale had different items. EE had a total of 9 items, DP had 5 items, and PA had 8 items. I transposed the individual responses into the corresponding values on the MBI Likert scale of 0 to 6, with 0 = never, 1 = a few times a year or less, 2 = once a month, 3 = a few times a month, 4 = once a week, 5 = a few times a week, and 6 = every day. I summed up the individual responses and calculated a total score for each subscale: EE, DP and PA. The highest possible score for EE was 54, for DP was 30, and for PA was 48, which were based on the number of items in each subscale multiplied by the highest number on the Likert scale. According to Maslach and Jackson, higher scores indicate higher degrees of burnout for PA. I labeled the variables accordingly in SPSS and used them in data analysis.

There were eight statements for the PTSS. The PTSS has a Likert type scale from 0 to 3, 0 = never, 1 = sometimes, 2 = most of the times, and 3 = always. I transposed the individual responses into the corresponding values on the PTSS Likert scale of 0 to 3. I totaled the individual responses and arrived at a total score of positive thinking skill for each individual. The highest possible score for PTSS is 24, which is based on the number of items in each subscale multiplied by the highest number on the Likert scale. I labelled the individual total scores for each variable in SPSS prior to running my statistical tests. According to Bekhet and Zauszniewski, the statements are phrased positively, so higher scores indicate more positive thinking. Descriptive statistics was obtained (see Table 7), which showed that EE had the highest burnout mean score (26.69).

## Table 7

Descriptive statistics	Mean	SD	
EE	26.69	12.420	
DP	8.65	7.055	
PA	34.41	7.981	
PTSS	12.96	12.96	

Descriptive Statistics

EE = emotional exhaustion; DP = depersonalization; PA = personal accomplishment;

PTSS = Positive Thinking Skills Scale.

Data in Table 8 show EE scores for respondents. Higher scores denote higher degrees of burnout, and lower scores indicate lower degrees of burnout (Maslach et al., 2018). The highest possible score for EE is 54 because the EE has 9 items and is measured on a 0 to 6 MBI Likert scale. In the sample, 22.7% of respondents had the highest EE scores of 36 to 54. The EE mean value is 26.69 out of 54 (49.42%), and the corresponding mean response value on the MBI 0 to 6 Likert scale is 2.96, which means that respondents' EE experiences were between once a month or less to a few times a month (N = 242).

### Table 8

EE scores	Respondents	Percent
0-17	67	27.7
18-35	107	44.2
36-54	55	22.7
	N = 242	

Emotional Exhaustion (EE) Scores

Data in Table 9 show DP scores for respondents. Higher scores denote higher degrees of burnout, and lower scores indicate lower degrees of burnout (Maslach et al.,
2018). The highest possible score for DP is 30 because it has 5 items and is measured on a 0 to 6 MBI Likert scale. The results showed that 9.1% of respondents reported the highest DP burnout scores of 20 to 30. The DP mean value was 8.65 out of 30 (28.83%), and the corresponding mean response value on the MBI 0 to 6 Likert scale was 1.73, which means that DP experiences were between a few times a year or less to once a month or less (N = 242).

#### Table 9

Depersonalization (DP) Scores

DP scores	Respondents	Percent
0-9	151	62.4
10-19	69	28.5
20-30	22	9.1
N = 242		

Data in Table 10 show PA scores for respondents. Unlike the EE and DP scores, lower scores for PA denote higher degrees of burnout, and higher scores indicate lower degrees of burnout (Maslach et al., 2018) The highest possible score for PA is 48 because it has 8 PA items and is measured on a 0 to 6 MBI Likert scale. The results showed that 2.5% of respondents reported the lowest PA scores of 0 to 15, which denotes higher degrees of burnout. The PA mean value is 34.41 out of 48 (71.68%), and the corresponding mean response value on the MBI 0 to 6 Likert scale is 4.30, which means that respondents experienced PA once a week (N = 242).

#### Table 10

Personal Accomp	Bespondents	Percent
0.15	Kespondents	
0-15	6	2.5
16-31	74	30.6
32-48	162	66.9
<i>N</i> = 242		

Data in Table 11 show PTSS scores for respondents. Higher scores indicate more positive thinking (see Bekhet & Zauszniewski). The highest possible score for PTSS is 24 because it has 8 items and is measured on a 0 to 6 MBI Likert scale. The results showed that 33.5% of respondents reported higher PTSS scores of 16 to 24. The PTSS mean value was 12.96 out of 24 (54%), and the corresponding mean response value on the PTSS 0 to 3 Likert scale was 1.62, which means that respondents' usage of positive thinking skills was between sometimes and most times (N = 242).

#### Table 11

Positive Thi	nking Skills	Scale	(PTSS)
--------------	--------------	-------	--------

PTSS score	Respondents	Percent
0-7	24	9.9
8-15	137	56.6
16-24	81	33.5
N = 242		

I performed Cronbach's Alpha in SPSS to determine the internal consistency of the MBI and PTSS surveys. Warner (2013) stated that Cronbach's Alpha is the widely used for assessing reliability for multiple scales. According to UCLA Statistical Consulting Group (2021), a reliability coefficient of .70 or higher is considered "acceptable" in most social science research situations. The EE, DP, PA and PTSS tools are reliable tools based on the scores (see Table 12), which are above .70.

#### Table 12

Cronbach's Alpha

Research tool	Number of items	Cronbach's Alpha		
EE	9	0.921		
DP	5	0.792		
PA	8	0.762		
PTSS	8	0.909		
N DD		1 D1 1		

*Note*. EE = emotional exhaustion; DP = depersonalization; PA = personal

accomplishment; PTSS = Positive Thinking Skills Scale

I performed Pearson correlation coefficient to answer RQ1, and I also tested for the assumptions for Pearson *r* correlation. According to Gray et al. (2017), testing of assumptions is necessary to determine whether Pearson correlation is the appropriate statistic test for the study.

The first assumption of Pearson correlation requires that both variables for correlation should be measured at the interval or ratio level of measurements (Gray et al., 2017). The assumption was met because positive thinking skills was measured on a continuous scale of 0 to 3 and burnout was measured on a continuous scale 0 to 6.

The second assumption of Pearson correlation is independence of observation, which means that the observations are not related or influenced by other subjects. The participants were emailed privately to participate in the study. Assumption 2 was met. Assumption 3 of Pearson correlation is normality of at least one variable. According to Warner (2013), the continuous variables for correlation should have nearly normal distribution to meet the normality assumption. A visual inspection of the histogram in Figure 2 showed a nearly normal distribution. Also, there was adequate sample size for correlation (N = 242). According to the central limit theorem, normality can be assumed in a large sample no matter the shape of the sample data (Field, 2018), and the widely accepted value of a large sample size is 30 (Field, 2018). Thus, the assumption of normality was met.

#### Figure 2



The fourth assumption was that there are no outliers. No outlier was found upon conducting a visual inspection of the boxplots in Figures 3 to 6 above or below the whiskers. Therefore, the assumption of no outliers was met.

63

Emotional Exhaustion (EE) Boxplot







Personal Accomplishment (PA) Boxplot



### Figure 6





The fifth assumption of Linearity means that a straight-line relationship needs to exist between the two variables for correlation. I assessed linearity by visually inspecting the scatter plot (Figures 7 -9) with the straight line showing a linear relationship between the variables. Therefore, the assumption of linearity was met.

Scatter Plot of Emotional Exhaustion (EE) by Positive Thinking Skills (PTSS)





Scatter Plot of Depersonalization (DP) by Positive Thinking Skills Scale (PTSS)





Scatter Plot of Personal Accomplishment (PA) by Positive Thinking Skills Scale (PTSS)

The sixth assumption of MANOVA is homoscedasticity, which requires that there are equal variances in different variables being compared, as unequal variances can lead to inaccurate or skewed results (Field, 2018). A visual inspection of the data below (Figure 10-13) showed evenly dispersed data between the two groups and EE, DP, PA and PTSS, thus, satisfying the assumption of homoscedasticity.

Scatter Plot of Dependent Variable Emotional Exhaustion (EE)





Scatter Plot of the Dependent Variable Depersonalization (DP)









Scatter Plot of Dependent Variable Positive Thinking Skills Scale (PTSS)



I conducted a Pearson correlation r to determine the relationship between the use of positive thinking skills and burnout level among critical care nurses and the results showed (a) a statistically significant negative moderate correlation between positive thinking skills and emotional exhaustion among critical care nurses (p < .001), (b) a statistically significant negative moderate correlation between positive thinking skills and depersonalization among critical care nurses (p < .001) and (c) a statistically significant positive strong correlation between positive thinking skills and personal accomplishment among critical care nurses (p < .001). r=-.432, n=242, (p < .001). r =-.355, n=242, (p < .001), r=.529, n=242, (p < .001)

Pearson correlation *r* is also a measure of effect size, and it is one of the commonly used measures (Field, 2018). Gray et al. (2017) stated that Pearson correlation provides two key aspects (a) the direction (positive or negative) of the linear relationship and (b) the strength or magnitude of the relationship. According to Gray et al, the strength of correlation for Pearson *r* for a moderate negative correlation is -.0.49 to -.0.30 and for a strong positive correlation is 0.50 to 1.00. Therefore, EE (*r*=-.435) and DP (*r*=-.353) indicate moderate negative correlation and PA (*r*=.515) indicate a strong positive correlation. Therefore, the null hypothesis was rejected.

I performed a MANOVA statistical test to answer RQ2 to determine the difference between the use of positive thinking skills and burnout level among critical care nurses who have been working in the critical care units for one year or less compared with critical care nurses who have been working in critical care more than one year. Prior to performing the MANOVA statistical test, I tested for MANOVA assumptions to ensure it is the appropriate statistical test for the study. The first three assumptions relate to the study design:

The first assumption of MANOVA requires that two or more dependent variables are measured at the interval or ratio levels. The assumption was met because the dependent variables EE, DP, PA and PTSS are all continuous variables. The scales for EE, DP and PA are 0 -6 and for PTSS, 0-3.

The second assumption OF MANOVA is that the independent variable consists of two or more categorical groups. The assumption was met since the independent variable consisted of two categorical groups, critical care nurses who have been working in critical care for one year or less and critical care nurses who have been working in critical care for more than one year.

The third assumption of MANOVA is that there is independence of observations, which means that no relationship exists between the observations in each group of the independent variable or between the groups. The assumption was met because the study groups have different participants.

The fourth assumption of MANOVA is equality of variance covariance matrices. This tests the null hypothesis that the variance/covariance matrices of the dependent variables are equal across each group. This assumption was tested with the Box M test. According to Field (2018), a statistically significant result (p < .001) is an indication of unequal variances. The Box M test showed a non-significant result of .615. Therefore, the assumption of homogeneity of variances covariance was met.

The fifth assumption of MANOVA is the requirement of adequate sample size. Fields (2018) stated that N=30 is a widely accepted value for a large sample size. The sample size for each group was greater than 30 and total sample size was N=242. Assumption was met.

The sixth assumption of MANOVA is homogeneity of variances. This assumption tests that there are equal variances between the groups of independent variables. The Levene's test of equality of error variances can be used to test whether equal varices exist between group combination for the dependent variable (Field, 2018). A non-statistically significant Levene's test (>.005) for dependent variables is an indication of equal variances and a confirmation that the multivariate test statistics are robust (Field, 2018). In Table 13, the Levene's test showed a statistically non-significant test for all listed variables, indicating equal varices across the groups. Therefore, the assumption of homogeneity of variances was met.

#### Table 13

Levene's Test of Equality of Error Variances

Dependent variables	Sig
EE	.090
DP	.046
PA	.739
PTSS	.240

The seventh assumption of MANOVA is that there are no univariate outliers -Outliers are data points within a dataset that fall outside of the pattern of other data points, they are either too low or too high (Field, 2018). Outliers can negatively influence the outcome of the statistical test results (Field, 2018). I visually inspected boxplots (Figures 14 -17) whiskers and no outlier was found. Therefore, the assumption was met.

Boxplot of Emotional Exhaustion (EE) by Time as Critical Care Nurse



Boxplot of Depersonalization (DP) by Time as Critical Care Nurse



Boxplot of Personal Accomplishment (PA) by Time as Critical Care Nurse



Figure 17

Boxplot of Positive Thinking Skills by Time as Critical Care Nurse



Multivariate outliers refer to unusual combination of scores on the dependent variable. Mahalananobis distance is the preferred test to detect multivariate outlier since it is able to detect any unusual observations given that more observed data are multidimensional that could be missed (Ghorbani, 2019). The Mahalanobis distance measures the distance of cases from the mean of the predictor variables (Field, 2018). A multiple regression analysis which includes the Mahalanobis distance is recommended to detect multivariate outliers and is based on residuals (Ghorbani, 2019). According to critical value reference, a distance greater than 11 with three predictors is concerning (Field, 2018). I performed a multiple regression and included Mahalanobis distance, the result 4.481. Therefore, meeting the assumption of no multivariate outlier.

The eighth assumption of MANOVA is multivariate of normality which tests for a normality of data. I visually inspected the normal Q-Q plot (Figures 18-25), and the data were found to have nearly normal distribution, therefore meeting assumption of normality.

Normal Q-Q Plot of Emotional Exhasution (EE) by Time as Critical Care Nurse 1 Year or Less







Normal Q-Q Plot of EE

Normal Q-Q Plot of Depersonalization (DP) by Time as Critical Care Nurse 1 Year or Less



Normal Q-Q Plot of Depersonalization (DP) by Time as Critical Care Nurse More Than 1 Year



Normal Q-Q Plot of DP

Normal Q-Q Plot of Personal Accomplishment (PA) by Time as Criticial Care Nurse 1 Year or Less







Normal Q-Q Plot of PA

Normal Q-Q Plot of Positive Thinking Skills Scale (PTSS) by Time as Critical Care Nurse 1 Year or Less



Normal Q-Q Plot of Positive Thinking Skills Scale (PTSS) by Time as Critical Care Nurse More Than 1 Year



The ninth assumption of MANOVA requires that there is no multicollinearity. This assumption tests for the level of correlation between variables. Ideally, a moderate correlation between variables is acceptable. Pearson correlation results for EE, DP PA with PTSS: (r=-.432, p =.001, r =-.355, p=001, r=.529, (p <.001). Tolerance and variance inflation factor (VIF) are specific tests for multicollinearity (Gray et al., 2017). If VIF <10 and tolerance <0.20, then there is no multicollinearity (Gray et al., 2017). I did a regression test in SPSS and the results showed that VIF <10 and tolerance <0.20) for EE, DP, PA and PTSS for the two independent groups were within the acceptable limits. Therefore, the assumption of multicollinearity was met.

The tenth assumption of MANOVA requires linearity among the variables. A linear relation needs to exist between the dependent variables with each group of the independent variables. A lack of linearity among the variables results in reduced test power (Field, 2018). This assumption was tested with scatter plots (Figure 18-20) and visually inspected, which showed a linear relationship between the dependent variables EE, DP, PA and PTSS. Therefore, the assumption of linearity was met.

Scatter Plot of Emotional Exhaustion (EE) by Positive Thinking Skills Scale (PTSS)



Scatter Plot of Depersonalization (DP) by Positive Thinking Skills Scale (PTSS)



Scatter Plot of Personal Accomplishment (PA) by Positive Thinking Skills Scale (PTSS)



Table 14 displays data on the two groups for RQ2, critical care nurses with one year or less compared to critical are nurses with more than one year. Table 14 includes EE, DP, PA and PTSS means and standard deviations for both groups. The data showed that the mean values and standard deviations for EE, DP, PA and PTSS are very closely related (no significant differences) for critical care nurses with one year or less compared with critical care nurses with more than one year.

#### Table 14

Time	Ν	Mean	SD	
EE 1 yr or less	44	26.43	10.791	
EE more than 1 yr	198	26.75	12.777	
DP 1yr or less	44	8.14	6.041	
DP more than 1yr	198	8.77	7.270	
PA 1yr or less	44	34.77	7.682	
PA more than 1yr	198	34.33	8.062	
PTSS 1yr or less	44	12.86	4.460	
PTSS more than 1yr	198	12.98	4.880	

Time as Critical Care Nurse

*Note*. EE = emotional exhaustion; DP = depersonalization; PA = personal

accomplishment; PTSS = Positive Thinking Skills Scale.

The MANOVA results showed: F(4, 237) = .146, p = .965; Wilks'A = .998; partial n<sup>2</sup> = .002. Therefore, the results showed that there was no statistically significant difference between critical care nurses who have been working in critical care for one year or less compared with critical care nurses who have been working in critical care more than one year. Therefore, the null hypothesis was retained.

#### Summary

I conducted a quantitative, correlational study and performed Pearson correlation and MANOVA statistical tests to answer RQ1 and RQ2 respectively. I tested the assumptions for both statistical tests and they were met indicating that the tests were the appropriate tests for RQ1 and RQ2. I used two instruments for my studies: MBI to measure burnout dimensions (EE, DP & PA) and PTSS to measure the use of positive thinking skills. I performed Cronbach's Alpha to determine the reliability of the MBI and PTSS and both were found reliable with scores above .70, which is a widely accepted value in social sciences. Data analysis was performed using SPSS version 28. I reported descriptive demographic data, which showed that the ages of most of the respondents (44.2%) were between 26-35 years and they were mostly females (74.8%). Most of the respondents were single (52.1%), of Asian/Pacific race (50.4%) and had bachelor's degree (71.1%). Most of the respondents worked as critical care nurses for 2-7 years (43.4%).

Descriptive statistics data on the variables showed that EE had the highest mean score of the three burnout dimensions, 26.69 out of 54 (49.42%). Higher scores indicate higher degrees of burnout for EE and DP, while lower scores indicate higher degrees of burnout for PA. Higher PTSS scores indicate more positive thinking. Data showed that 22.7% of respondents had the highest EE scores of 36-54, which denotes higher degrees of burnout, 27.7% of respondents had the lowest EE scores of 0-17 and 44.2% of respondents had mid-range scores of 18-35. Data also showed that 9.1% of respondents reported the highest DP scores of 20-30, which denotes higher degrees of burnout, 62.4%

of respondents reported the lowest scores of 0-9, which denotes lower degrees of burnout and 28.5% of respondents had mid-range scores of 10-19. The data for PA showed that 2.5% of respondents reported the lowest scores of 0-15, which denotes higher degrees of burnout, 66.9% of respondents had the burnout scores of 32-48, which denotes lower degrees of burnout and 30.6% of respondents had mid-range scores of 16-31. The data for PTSS showed that 33.5% of respondents reported higher PTSS scores of 16-24. 9.9% of respondents reported the lowest PTSS scores of 0-7 and 56.6% of respondents reported mid-range PTSS scores of 8-15.

I performed Pearson correlation for RQ1 to determine the relationship between the use of positive thinking skills and burnout level among critical care nurses. The results showed a statistically significant negative moderate correlation between positive thinking skills and emotional exhaustion among critical care nurses (p < 0.001), a statistically significant negative moderate correlation between positive thinking skills and depersonalization among critical care nurses (p < 0.001) and a statistically significant positive strong correlation between positive thinking skills and personal accomplishment among critical care nurses. The null hypothesis was rejected.

I performed a MANOVA statistical test for RQ2 to determine the difference between the use of positive thinking skills and burnout level among critical care nurses who have been working in the critical care units for one year or less compared with critical care nurses who have been working in critical care more than one year. The results showed that there was no statistically significant difference between the use of positive thinking and burnout level among critical care nurses who have been working in the critical care units for one year or less compared with critical care nurses who have been working in critical care more than one year. Therefore, the null hypothesis was retained. In Chapter 5, I will discuss the interpretation of findings, limitations, recommendations, and implications Chapter 5: Discussion, Conclusion, and Recommendations

#### Introduction

The purpose of my study was to determine (a) if there was a relationship between the use of positive thinking skills and burnout among critical care nurses, and (b) if there was a difference between the use of positive thinking skills and burnout among critical care nurses who had been working in the critical care units for 1 year or less compared with critical care nurses who had been working in critical care more than 1 year.

Burnout is a global health problem with a significant negative impact on the health (physical, mental, emotional) and wellbeing of critical care nurses (Perlo et al., 2017; Vahedian-Azimi et al., 2019, Wei et al., 2020, Zhang et al., 2020), which in turn has negative impact on patient safety, quality of care, and patient and organizational outcomes. The solution has remained elusive despite extensive research done on burnout (Bakhamis et al., 2019; Moss et al., 2016). The emergence of the COVID-19 pandemic has compounded the problem of burnout, placing additional burden on the health and well-being of critical care nurses (Fernandez et al., 2020; Howell, 2021; Shreffler, 2020), thus creating an urgency to address the problem of burnout (Fernandez et al., 2020). Consequently, burnout has been identified as a high priority problem by regulatory (i.e., Joint Commission) and legislative (i.e., Congress) bodies.

I conducted a quantitative, correlational study to answer my RQ1 and a comparative analysis study for my RQ2. The statistical tests included Pearson correlation to answer RQ1 and MANOVA test to answer RQ2. I used two valid and reliable instruments, the MBI and PTSS. I used the MBI to measure burnout dimensions EE, DP,

and PA and PTSS to measure positive thinking skills. I conducted data analysis with SPSS version 28.

RQ1 was answered with (a) statistically significant negative moderate correlation between positive thinking and EE, (b) statistically significant negative moderate correlation between positive thinking and DP, and (c) statistically significant positive strong correlation between positive thinking and personal accomplishment. The result means that (a) when positive thinking increases, EE decreases; when positive thinking decreases, EE increases; (b) when positive thinking increases, DP decreases; when positive thinking decreases, DP increases; and (c) when positive thinking increases, personal accomplishment increases; when positive thinking decreases, personal accomplishment decreases. The results showed that of the three burnout scores, EE had the highest burnout mean score, 26.69 out of 54 (49.42%) because higher scores indicate higher degrees of burnout. PA had the lowest burnout mean score, 34.41 out of 48 (71.68) because higher scores indicate lower degrees of burnout. The results also showed a high prevalence of burnout among critical care nurses.

The results for RQ2 showed a statistically nonsignificant difference between the use of positive thinking skills and burnout level (EE, DP, and PA) among critical care nurses who had been working in the critical care units for 1 year or less compared with critical care nurses who had been working in critical care more than 1 year.

#### **Interpretation of the Findings**

The findings of my studies are consistent with findings from prior similar studies. Manzano-Garcia and Ayala (2017) reported that positive perception of work has been

associated with decreased burnout rate, and negative perception of work has been associated with increased burnout rate. In another similar study on work related stress and positive thinking skills among acute care nurses, Tully and Tao (2019) found a small but significant association between work-related stress and positive thinking skills among acute care nurses. Similarly, Kooshalshah et al. (2015) found that positive thinking reduced stress among the nurses. Furthermore, some similarities exist between my study and prior studies on burnout. Emotional exhaustion was the most negatively affected burnout dimension in my study. This is consistent with prior studies on burnout, for example, Alharbi et al. (2016) reported that up to 82% of critical care nurses were emotionally exhausted. Also, Bruyneel et al. (2021) reported a high prevalence of burnout among critical care nurses during the COVID-19 pandemic, with EE being the most negatively affected dimension of burnout. Also, consistent with my study, Bruyneel and Smith (2021) found that ICU nurses were significantly at less risk for lower personal accomplishment. The lower risk for reduced PA was attributed to the significant autonomy and the feeling of competence of critical care nurses, especially during the COVID-19 pandemic, where the critical care nurses effectively and independently managed complex issues, such as mechanical ventilation, sedation and vasoactive drugs.

Other studies with similar findings include Alotni and Elgazzar (2020) study, which showed a high prevalence of burnout among critical care nurses. Mudallal et al. (2017) also reported high levels of burnout among critical care nurses. Also, Swamy et al. (2020) found that one third of the critical care nurses in the Veteran Administration experienced burnout symptoms. In relation to my RQ2, the results of my study showed that there was no statistically significant difference between the use of positive thinking skills and burnout levels for critical care nurses with 1 year or less of experience compared to critical care nurses with more than 1 year of experience. However, prior studies found that nurses with more years of experience have higher stress levels than those with less years of experience (Abumayyaleh et al., 2016; Baltran, 2019). Given the results of my RQ, it is important to consider the effect the COVID-19 pandemic may have had on critical care nurses and if it could have influenced the outcome because experienced and new critical care nurses were all exposed to the same amount of stress during COVID-19. Shen et al. (2020) studied the psychological stress of ICU nurses during the COVID-19 pandemic and found that ICU nurses faced tremendous challenges due to huge workload, many dying patients, and anxiety from misunderstandings with patients and family members. New ICU nurses were also highly affected by the stress level due to their lack of experience of caring for critically ill patients.

#### Limitations of the Study

Given that the recruitment of participants was based on the critical care nurses available at that time of the study, the results may not be representative of a broader population, thus limiting generalizability. Also, the target population was critical care nurses and did not include other nursing specialties, thus limiting generalizability to broader nursing specialties. The correlational analysis I performed in this study to answer RQ1 provides information on the direction and strength of association between variables but does not indicate causality.

#### Recommendations

Burnout has significant negative impact on the health and well-being of critical care nurses, which in turn negatively impacts patient safety, quality of care, and patient and organizational outcomes. Therefore, it is imperative to identify and implement effective interventions to address the chronic problem of burnout. Gray et al. (2017) stated that the first clue to the possibility of a causal relationship is the existence of a relationship between variables. Therefore, given the evidence of a statistically significant association between positive thinking and burnout, I recommend that future studies be directed towards interventional studies with pretest posttest control groups to establish a causal link between on positive thinking and burnout and to test teaching interventions to determine if training nurses on positive thinking is effective.

#### Implications

Burnout is a global health problem that has challenged the healthcare industry for decades, particularly critical care nurses. There is still no identifiable solution for burnout despite extensive studies and existing interventions on burnout (Bakhamis et al., 2019; Moss et al., 2016). Burnout is associated with cynicism, hopelessness, and ineffective coping (Hopewell, 2021), which creates a negative and unhealthy work environment that impacts critical care nurses, patient safety, quality care, and patient and organizational outcomes. Positive thinking has the potential of transforming the work environment and bringing about positive social change because it focuses on the favorable, rather than the negative aspects of a situation, thereby helping a person to deal with problems more effectively (Matel-Anderson & Bekhet, 2019). A positive work environment has been

linked to positive patient outcomes (Ulrich et al., 2019). Copanitsanou et al. (2017) found that patients who were hospitalized in a positive nursing work environment were more satisfied with the care they received from the nurses than patients who were not. Also, frequent experiences of positive emotions and positive attitudes towards life have been linked to quality of life across one's lifespan (Park et al., 2016). Thus, the impact of positive thinking extends beyond the work environment to individuals and the community. Positive thinking is new in nursing (Tully & Tao, 2019), but it offers a promising positive outcome in addressing the problem of burnout. Hence, the results of my study can be used to increase awareness and promote positive thinking among critical care nurses. The results of my study contribute to the body of knowledge on burnout and positive thinking and can inform nursing policy, administration, and education. The COVID-19 pandemic exposed the gaps in addressing the mental health needs and wellbeing of critical care nurses. Hence, Sovold et al. (2021) called for an urgent global public health priority on the mental and well-being of the healthcare workers, not only during a public health crisis but on an ongoing and regular basis. My study results may be beneficial in providing information for developing training and wellness programs to combat burnout among critical care nurses.

#### Conclusion

The results of my study showed a statistically significant association between positive thinking and burnout: (a) As positive thinking increases, EE decreases, and as positive thinking decreases, EE increases; (b) as positive thinking increases, DP decreases, and as positive thinking decreases, DP increases; and (c) as positive thinking increases, PA increases, and as positive thinking decreases, PA decreases. My study offers new information on promoting a positive work environment, which may reduce or prevent burnout among critical care nurses and transform their work environment leading to positive social change. Lazarus and Folkman (1984) posited that a stress response is highly influenced by the person's appraisal process, thus highlighting the relationship between stress, perception and interpretation and making the argument for positive thinking. Manzano-Garcia and Ayala (2017) pointed out that the way the nurse perceives or interprets work stressors will determine whether the work stressor will be viewed in a positive or negative way. Thus, Manzano-Garcia and Ayala recommended the need for nurses to be empowered to know their personal strength in influencing their work environment positively.

Despite decades of extensive research on burnout, there is still no identifiable solution (Bakhamis et al., 2019). Burnout remains a long-standing problem with significant negative impact on the health and well-being of critical care nurses and consequently on patient safety, quality care, and patient and organizational outcomes (Moss et al., 2016). Burnout is highly prevalent among critical care nurses, and the emergence of COVID-19 pandemic has compounded the problem of burnout, placing additional burden on the health and well-being of critical care nurses. EE was the most negatively affected burnout dimension in my study. Barto and Burk (2017) pointed out that the stressful work environment of critical care nurses is unlikely to change; therefore, there is a need to train critical care nurses on the skills that will enable them to think differently about their work, as an effective way of coping with stress. The results of my study can be used to increase awareness, education, and develop formal training and wellness programs for critical care nurses, which may help to reduce and prevent burnout. This may in turn improve the health and well-being of critical care nurses, promote positive patient and organizational outcomes and a better community. My study contributes to the body of knowledge on burnout and positive thinking and can inform nursing policy, administration, and education. Gray et al. (2017) stated that. the existence of a relationship between variables is the first clue to the possibility of a causal relationship. Therefore, given the evidence in this study of an association between burnout and positive thinking, future research should be directed towards interventional studies with pretest-posttest control groups to establish a causal link between burnout and positive thinking.

#### References

Abumayyaleh, B., Khraisat, O., Hamaideh, S., Ahmed, A., & Imad, T. (2016). Moral distress and turnover intention among critical care nurses in Saudi Arabia.
 *International Journal of Nursing and Health Science*, 3(6), 59–64.
 <a href="http://www.openscienceonline.com/journal/ijnhs">http://www.openscienceonline.com/journal/ijnhs</a>

- Alharbi, J., Wilson, R., Woods, C., & Usher, K. (2016). The factors influencing burnout and job satisfaction among critical care nurses: A study of Saudi critical care nurses. *Journal of Nursing Management*, 24, 708–717. https://doi.org/10.1111/jonm.12386
- Alharbi, J., Jackson, D., & Usher, K. (2019). Compassion fatigue in critical care nurses.
  An integrative review of the literature. *Saudi Medical Journal*, 40(11), 1087-1097. <u>https://doi.org/10.15537/smj.2019.11.24569</u>
- Al Shehri, B., Al Shimemeri, S, Al Aomry, A., & Saleh, J. Y. (2012). Factors leading to stress among Saudi Nurses. *The Middle East Journal of Psychiatry and Alzheimer's*, *3*(17), 22.
- Alotni, M. A., & Elgazzar, S. E. (2020). Investigation of burnout, its associated factors and its effect on the quality of life of critical care nurses working in Buraydah Central Hospital at Qassim Region, Saudi Arabia. *The Open Nursing Journal, 14*. 190-202. https://doi.org/10.2174/1874434602014010190
- Armstrong, R. A., Kane, A. D., & Cook, T. M. (2020). Outcomes from intensive care in patients with COVID-19: A systematic review and meta-analysis of observational

studies. Anaesthesia, 75(10), 1340-1349. https://doi.org/10.1111/anae.15201

- Aryankhesal, A., Mohammadibakhsh, R. Hamidi, Y, Alidoost, S., Behzadifar, M.,
  Sohrabi, R. & Farhadi, Z. (2019). Interventions on reducing burnout in physicians and nurses: A systematic review. *Medical Journal Islam Republican Iran*, 33(77), 1-8. https://doi.org/10.34171/mjiri.33.77
- Awajeh, A.M., Issa, M. R., Rasheed, A. M., & Amirah, M. F. (2018). Burnout among critical care nurses in King Saud Medical City (KSMC). *Journal Nursing and Care 2018*, 7(2), 1-5. <u>https://doi.org/0.4172/2167-1168.1000450</u>
- Babapour, A. Gahassab-Mozaffari, N., & Fathnezhad-Kazemi, A. (2022). Nurses' job stress and its impact on quality of life and caring behaviors: a cross-sectional study. *BMC Nursing 21*(75). https://doi.org/10.1186/s12912-022-00852-y
- Bakhamis, L., Paul, D., Smith, H. & Coustasse, A. (2019). Still an epidemic. *The Health Care Manager, 38*(1), 3–10. <u>https://doi.org/10.1097/HCM.0000000000243</u>
- Barto, D & Burk, L. (2017). Preventing burnout in the ICU. *Nursing Critical Care*, *12*(4), 5-7. <u>https://doi.org/10.1097/01.CCN.0000515989.55235.89</u>
- Bates, D. W., & Singh, H. (2018). Two decades since to Err is Human: An assessment of progress and emerging priorities in patient safety. *Health Affairs*, *37*(11), 1736–1743. <u>https://doi.org/10.1377/hlthaff.2018.0738</u>
- Batran, A. (2019). Work related stress among Saudi Nurses working in intensive care units. Open Journal of Nursing, 9(11), 1143–1152. https://doi.org/10.4236/ojn.2019.911084
- Bekhet, A. K., & Garnier-Villarreal, M. (2017). The Positive Thinking Skills Scale: A
screening measure for early identification of depressive thoughts. *Applied Nursing Research*, 38, J. C. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.apnr.2017.08.004

- Bekhet, A. K., & Zauszniewski, J. A. (2013). Measuring use of positive thinking skills:
  Psychometric testing of a new scale. Western Journal of Nursing Research, 35(8), 1074-1093. <u>https://doi.org/10.1177/0193945913482191</u>
- Browning, S. (2019). Burnout in critical care nurses. *Critical Care Nursing Clinics North America, 31*, 527–536. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cnc.2019.07.008</u>
- Bruyneel A., & Smith P. (2021). Comparison of the prevalence of burnout risk between ICU and non-ICU nurses during the COVID-19 outbreak in French-speaking Belgium. *Intensive Critical Care Nursing*, *66*,103086. http://doi: 10.1016/j.iccn.2021.103086.
- Bruyneel, A., Smith, P., Tack, J., & Pirson, M. (2021). Prevalence of burnout risk and factors associated with burnout risk among ICU nurses during the COVID-19 outbreak in French speaking Belgium. *Intensive and Critical Care Nursing*, 65. 103059, 1-7. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.iccn.2021.103059</u>
- Chang, D., Xu, H., Rebaza, A., Sharma, L., & Dela Cruz, C. S. (2020). Protecting healthcare workers from subclinical coronavirus infection. *The Lancet Respiratory Medicine*, 8(3). <u>http://doi.org/10.1016/S2213-2600(20)30066-7</u>
- Copanitsanou, P., Fotos, N., & Brokalaki, H. (2017). Effects of work environment on patient and nurse outcome. *British Journal of Nursing*, 26(3), 172-176. https://doi.org/10.12968/bjon.2017.26.3.172

Cishahayo, E. U., Nankundwa, E., Sego, R., Bhengu, B. R. (2017). Burnout among

nurses working in critical care settings: A case of a selected tertiary hospital in Rwanda. *International Journal of Research in Medical Sciences*, *5*(12), 5121 -

5128. https://dx.doi.org/10.18203/2320-6012.ijrms20175430

CMS (n.d). CMS data navigator glossary terms. <u>https://www.cms.gov/Research-</u>

Statistics-Data-and

Systems/Research/ResearchGenInfo/Downloads/DataNav\_Glossary\_Alpha.pdf

- Curtis, E., Comiskey, C., & Dempsey, O. (2016). Importance and use of correlational research. *Nurse Researcher* 23(6), 20-25. <u>http://doi:10.7748/nr.2016.e1382</u>
- Dall'Ora, C., Ball, J., Reinius, M. & Griffiths, P. (2020). Burnout in nursing: A theoretical review. *Human Resources for Health*, 18(41), 12-27. <u>https://doi.org/10.1186/s12960-020-00469-9</u>
- De Hert S. (2020). Burnout in healthcare workers: Prevalence, impact and preventative strategies. *Local and Regional Anesthesia*, *13*, 171–183.

https://doi.org/10.2147/LRA.S240564

Dilig-Ruiz, A., MacDonald, I., Varin, D, M., Vandyk, A., Graham, I. D. (2018). Job satisfaction among critical care nurses: A systematic review. *International Journal of Nursing Studies*, 88, 123-134.

https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijnurstu.2018.08.014

Dyrbye, L. N., Shanafelt, T. D., Johnson, P. O., Johnson, L. A., Satele, D., & West, C. P. (2019). A cross-sectional study exploring the relationship between burnout, absenteeism, and job performance among American nurses. *BMC Nursing*, 18(57). http://doi: 10.1186/s12912-019-0382-7.

Elay, G., Bahar, I., Demirkiran, H., & Oksuz, H. (2019). Severe burnout among critical care workers in Turkey. *Saudi Medical Journal 40*(9), 943-948. http://doi: 10.15537/smj.2019.9.24520

Elbarazi, I., Loney, T., Yousef, S., & Elias, A., (2017). Prevalence of and factors associated with burnout among health care professionals in Arab countries: a systematic review. BMC Health Services Research, 17 (1). http://doi 10.1186/s12913-017-2319-8

- Faul, F., Erdfeldler, E., Lang, A., & Bucner, A., (2007). G\*Power 3: A flexible statistical power analysis program for the social, behavioral, and biomedical sciences. *Behavior Research Methods*, 39, 175 -191.
- Fernandez, R., Lord, H., Halcomb, E., Moxham, L., Middleton, R., Alananzeh, I., & Ellwood, L. (2020). Implications for COVID-19: A systematic review of nurses' experiences of working in acute care hospital settings during a respiratory pandemic. *International Journal of Nursing Studies*, 111, 103637. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijnurstu.2020.103637
- Field, A (2018). Discovering statistics using IBM SPSS statistics (5<sup>th</sup> ed.). London, England: Sage Publications.
- Freudenberger, H. J (1974). Staff burn-out. Journal of Social Issues, 30:159-165. doi:10.1111/j.1540- 4560.1974.tb00706.x
- Galanis, P., Vraka, I., Frgkou, D., Bilali, A., & Kaitelidou, D. (2021). Nurses' burnout and associated risk factors during the COVID-19 pandemic: A systematic review and meta-analysis. Journal of Advanced Nurse, 77(8):3286-3302. http://doi:

10.1111/jan.14839.

- Ghorbani, H. (2019). Mahalanobis distance and its application for detecting multivariate outliers. Facta Universities Mathematics and Informatics 34(3), 583.
  doi:10.22190/fumi1903583G
- Gray, J. R. Grove, S. K., & Sutherland, S. (2017). Burns and Grove's the practice of nursing research: Appraisal, synthesis, and generation of evidence (8th ed.). St. Louis, MO: Saunders Elsevier.
- Greenberg, N., Weston, D., Hall, C., Caulfield, T., Williamson, V., & Fong, K. (2021).
  Mental health of staff working in intensive care during COVID-19. Occupational
  Medicine, 71(2), 62–67. <u>https://doi.org/10.1093/occmed/kqaa220</u>
- Hailay, A., Aberhe, W., Mebrahtom, G., Zereabruk, K., Gebreayezgi, G., & Haile, T.
  (2020). Burnout among nurses working in Ethiopia. Behavioral Neurology. 2020,
  1-9. http://doi:10.1155/2020/8814557
- Hassard, J., Teoh, K. R. H., Visockaite, G., Dewe, P., & Cox, T. (2018). The cost of work-related stress to society: A systematic review. *Journal of Occupational Health Psychology*, 23(1), 1–17. <u>https://doi.org/10.1037/ocp0000069</u>
- Hofmeyer, A., Taylor, R., & Kennedy, K.(2020). Fostering compassion and reducing burnout: How can health system leaders respond in the Covid-19 pandemic and beyond? Nurse Education Today, 94. http://doi: 10.1016/j.nedt.2020.104502.
- Howell, B. A. M. (2021). Battling burnout at the frontlines of health care amid COVID-19 Advanced Critical Care, 32 (2), 195–203.

https://doi.org/10.4037/aacnacc2021454

Institute of Medicine (1999). To err is human: Building a safer health care system.

Washington, D.C: National Academies Press.

Jia, H., Li, W., Hou, T., Ma, H., Yang, Y., Wu, A., Liu, Y., Wen, J., Yang, H., Luo, X., Xing, Y., Zhang, W., Wu, Y., Ding, L., Liu, W., Lin, L., Li, Y., & Chen, M. (2019). Impact of healthcare-associated infections on length of stay: A study in 68 hospitals in China. *BioMed Research International.2590563, 1-*

7. https://doi.org/10.1155/2019/2590563

Joint Commission (2019). Developing resilience to combat nurse burnout. Quick Safety,

(50). https://www.jointcommission.org/resources/news-and-

multimedia/newsletters/newsletters/quick-safety/quick-safety-50-developingresilience-to-combat-nurse-burnout/

- Joint Commission Online (2021). Joint Commission resources addressing well-being of health care staff. https://www.jointcommission.org/resources/news-andmultimedia/newsletters/newsletters/joint-commission-online/nov-24-2021/
- Kelly, L. A., Gee, P. M., & Butler, R. J. (2021). Impact of nurse burnout on organizational and position turnover. Nursing Outlook, 69(1),96-102. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.outlook.2020.06.008
- Kooshalshah, S. F. R., Hidarnia, A., Tavousi, M., Shamohamadi, S., & Aghdamizade, S.
  (2015). Effect of positive thinking intervention on the nurses' job stress. *Acta Medica Mediterranea*, *31*, 1495-1500.
- Kumar, A., Sinha, A., Varma, J. R., Prabhakaran, A. M., Phatak, A. G., & Nimbalkar, S.M. (2021). Burnout and its correlates among nursing staff of intensive care units

at a tertiary care center. *Journal of family medicine and primary care*, *10*(1), 443–448. <u>https://doi.org/10.4103/jfmpc.jfmpc\_1651\_20</u>

- Kurnat-Thoma, Ganger, M., Peterson, K., & Channell, L. (2017). Reducing annual hospital and registered nurse staff turnover—A 10-element onboarding program intervention. SAGE Open Nursing, 3, <u>http://doi:10.1177/2377960817697712</u>
- Lazarus, R. S., & Folkman, S. (1984). *Stress, appraisal, and coping,* New York, NY: Springer Publishing.
- Luo, Y., Li, H., Plummer, V., Cross, W. M., Lam, L., Guo, Y., Yin, Y., & Zhang, J.
  (2019). An evaluation of a positive psychological intervention to reduce burnout among nurses. *Archives of Psychiatric Nursing*, *33*(6), 186-191.
  https://doi.org/10.1016/j.apnu.2019.08.004
- Mamari, Q. A., Sharour, L. A., & Omari, O. A. (2020). Fatigue, burnout, work environment, workload and perceived patient safety culture among critical care nurses *British Journal of Nursing*, 29(1), 28-34.

http://doi:10.12968/bjon.2020.29.1.28

Manzano-Garcia, G. & Ayala, J.C. (2017). Insufficiently studied factors related to burnout in nursing: Results from e-Delphi study. *PLOS ONE 12*(4). <u>https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0175352</u>

Maslach, C., Jackson, S., Leiter, M. P., Schaufeli, W. B., & Schwab, R. L. (2018).
Maslach Burnout Inventory Manual (4th ed.). Mind Garden Inc.
https://www.mindgarden.com/maslach-burnout-inventory/685-mbi-manual.html

Maslach, C., Jackson, S. E., & Leiter, M. P. et al. (1997). Maslach burnout inventory: In

C. P. Zalaquett & R. J. Wood (Eds.), Evaluating stress, third edition. A book of resources (pp. 191–218). Scarecrow Education.

- Maslach, C. & Jackson, S.E. (1997). The measurement of experienced burnout. *Journal* of Occupational Behavior, 2, 99-113. http:// doi/pdf/10.1002/job.4030020205
- Maslach, C & Leiter, M.P (2016). Understanding the burnout experience: recent research and its implications for psychiatry. *Journal of World Psychiatry*, 15(2): 103–111. <u>http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pmc/articles/</u>
- Matel-Anderson & Bekhet (2019). Psychometric properties of the positive thinking skills scale among college students. Archives of Psychiatric Nursing, 33(1). 65-69. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.apnu.2018.10.005</u>
- McDonald, L. (2020). Florence Nightingale: The making of a hospital reformer. *HERD: Health Environments Research & Design Journal*, 13(2):25-31.

doi:10.1177/1937586720918239

- Melnyk, B. M., Tan, A., Hsieh, A. P., Gawlik, K., Arsianian-Engoren, C., Braun, L. T. & Wilbur, J. (2021). Critical care nurses' physical and mental health, worksite wellness support, and medical errors. *American Journal of Critical Care 30(3)*, https://doi.org/10.4037/ajcc2021301
- Monroe, M., Morse, E., Price, J. M. (2020). The relationship between critical care work environment and professional quality of life. *American Journal of Critical Care Nurses*, 29(2), 145-149. <u>https://doi.org/10.4037/ajcc2020406</u>
- Moradi, Y., Baghaei, R., Hosseingholipo, K., & Mollazadeh, F. (2021). Challenges experienced by ICU nurses throughout the provision of care for COVID-19

patients: A qualitative study. *Journal of Nursing Management*, 29(5), 1159–1168. https://doi.org/10.1111/jonm.13254

- Moss, M., Good, V.S., Gozal, D., Kleinpell, R., & Sessler, C. N. (2016). An official Care Societies Collaboratives Statement -burnout syndrome in critical care health care professionals. *Journal of American College of Chest Physicians*. 150 (1). http://doi.org/10.1016/jchest.2016.02.649
- Mudallal, R. H., Othman, W.M & Hassan, M.F.A. (2017). Nurses' burnout: The influence of leader empowering behaviors, work conditions, and demographic traits inquiry.
   A Journal of Medical Care Organization, Provision and Financing, 54.
   https://doi.org/10.1177/0046958017724944
- Mushonga, B., & Dube-Mawerewere, V. (2017). Factors that contribute to burnout syndrome among critical care nurses in intensive care units,
  Botswana, *International Journal of Nursing Science*, 7(4), 91-95. http://doi: 10.5923/j.nursing.20170704.03.
- Nantsupawat, A., Kunaviktikul, W., Nantsupawat, R., Wichaikhum, O. A., Thienthong, H., & Poghosyan, L. (2017). Effects of nurse work environment on job dissatisfaction, burnout, intention to leave. *International Nursing Review*, 64(1):91-98. <u>http://doi</u>: 10.1111/inr.12342.

Obbarius, N., Fischer, F., Liegl, G., Obbarius, A., & Rose M. (2021). A modified version of the transactional stress concept according to Lazarus and Folkman was confirmed in a psychosomatic inpatient sample. *Frontiers in Psychology. 12.* <a href="https://doi.org/10.3389/fpsyg.2021.584333">https://doi.org/10.3389/fpsyg.2021.584333</a>

Papazian, L., Sylvestre, A., & Herridge, M. (2018). Should all ICU clinicians regularly be tested for burnout? Yes. *Intensive Care Medicine*, 44, 681– 683.https://doi.org/10.1007/s00134-018-5094-z

Paraguassú-Chaves, C. A., Trindade, C. D., Filho, S. A., Almeida, F. M., Aznar, D. S., Trin dade, C. A. D., Souza, L. P. G., Guanabara, R. & Moreira, L. R. (2021).
Burnout syndrome- stress in health care professionals working to fight Covid-19 in public hospitals. International *Journal of Advanced Engineering Research and Science* 8(6), http://doi:https://dx.doi.org/10.22161/ijaers.86.52

Park, N., Peterson, C., Scvarca, D., Molen, R. J., V., Kim, E.S., & Collon, K., (2016).
Positive psychology and physical health: Research and applications. *American Journal of Lifestyle Medicine*. 10(3), 200-206.
http://doi:10.1177/1559827614550277

Pastores, S., Kvetan, V., Coppersmith, C. M., Farmer, J. C., Sessler, C., Christman, J., D'Agostino, R., Diaz-Gomez, J., Gregg, S., Khan, R., Kapu, A. N., Masur, H., Mehta, G., Moore, J., Oropello, J. M., & Price, K., (2019). Workforce, workload, and burnout among intensivists and advanced practice providers: A narrative review. Critical Care Medicine, 47, 50-557. <u>http://doi</u>:

Patel, R. S., Bachu, R., Adikey, A., Malik, M., & Shah, M. (2018). Factors related to physician burnout and its consequences: A Review. *Behavioral Sciences*. 8(11), 98. <u>https://doi.org/10.3390/bs8110098</u>

10.1097/CCM.00000000003637

Perez, A., Rapiman, M.E., Caneo Orellana, M., & Castro, C. (2017). Seven ethical

requirements for quantitative and qualitative research in nursing: Experiences of three research ethics committees from Santiago, Chile. *International Journal of Humanities and Social Science*, *7*(7), 19-24.

- Perlo, J. B., Swenson, S., Kabcenell, A., Landsman, J., & Feeley, D. (2017). IHIFramework for Improving Joy in Work. IHI White Paper. CambridgeMassachusetts: Institute for Healthcare Improvement.
- Qiong, O.U. (2017). A brief introduction to perception. Studies in Literature and Language, 15(4), 18-28. http://doi:10.3968/10055
- Rehder, K. J., Adair, K. C., Hadley, A., McKittrick, K., Frankel, A., Leonard, M., Frankel, T. C., & Sexton, J. B. (2020). Associations between a new disruptive behaviors scale and teamwork, patient safety, work-life balance, burnout, and depression. *Joint Commission Journal on Quality and Patient Safety*, 46(1):18-26. http://doi:10.1016/j.jcjq.2019.09.004
- Reith T. P. (2018). Burnout in United States Healthcare Professionals: A Narrative Review. *Cureus*, 10(12), e3681. <u>https://doi.org/10.7759/cureus.3681</u>
- Ross, J. (2020). The exacerbation of burnout during COVID-19: A major concern for nurse safety. *Journal of PeriAnesthesia Nursing*, 35(4). 439-440 <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jopan.2020.04.001</u>
- Ruiz-Fernández, M. (2020). Quality of life in nursing professionals: Burnout, fatigue, and compassion satisfaction. *International Journal of Environmental Research and Public Health*, 17(4). 1253; https://doi.org/10.3390/ijerph17041253

Salvagioni, F. N. M., Mesas, A. E., Gonzalez, A. D., Gabani, F. L., & De Andrade, S. M.

(2017). Physical, psychological and occupational consequences of job burnout: A systematic review of prospective studies. *PLoS ONE 12*(10).

https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0185781

- Santos, W. G. (2020). Natural history of COVID-19 and current knowledge on treatment therapeutic options. *Biomedicine & Pharmacotherapy 129*, 110493. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.biopha.2020.110493</u>
- Schober, P., Boer, C., & Schwarte, L. (2018). Correlation coefficients: Appropriate use and interpretation. *Anesthesia and Analgesia*, 126(5). 1763-1768. http:// doi: 10.1213/ANE.00000000002864
- Scholtz, S., Nel, E. W., Poggenpoel, & Myburgh, C. P. H. (2016). The culture of nurses in a critical care unit. *Global Qualitative Nursing Research*, 3, 1–11. http:// doi:10.1177/2333393615625996

Shah, M. K., Grandrakota, N., Cimiotti, J. P., Ghose, N., Moore, M., & Ali, K. M.
(2021). Prevalence of and factors associated with nurse burnout in the US. *Journal of American Medical Association Network Open*, 4(2).

http://doi:10.1001/jamanetworkopen.2020.36469

Sharifabad, M. A. M., Ghaffari, M., Mehrabi, Y., Askari, J., Zare, S., & Alizadeh, S. (2020). Effectiveness of interventions based on Lazarus and Folkman
Transactional Model on improving stress appraisal for hemodialysis patients in
Tehran. Saudi Journal of Kidney Diseases and Transplantations. 31(1), 150-159.
<a href="http://doi:10.4103/1319-2442.279935">http://doi:10.4103/1319-2442.279935</a>

- Shen, X., Zou, X., Zhong, X., Yan, J., & Li, L. (2020). Psychological stress of ICU nurses in the time of COVID-19. *Critical Care*, 24(200). 1-3. https://doi.org/10.1186/s13054-020-02926-2
- Shreffler, J., Petrey, J., & Huecker, M. (2020). The Impact of COVID-19 on healthcare worker wellness: A scoping review. *The Western Journal of Emergency Medicine*, 21(5), 1059–1066. <u>https://doi.org/10.5811/westjem.2020.7.48684</u>
- Sovold, L.E., Naslund, J. A, Kousoulis, A. A., Qoronfleh, M. W., Grobler, C., & Munter, L. (2021). Prioritizing the mental health and well-being of healthcare workers: An urgent global public health priority. Frontiers in Public Health, 9, 514. <u>http://doiI=10.3389/fpubh.2021.679397</u>
- Specchia, M. L., Cozzolino, M. R., Carini, E., Pilla A. D., Gallett, C., Ricciardi, W. & Damiani, G. (2021). Leadership styles and nurses' job satisfaction. Results of a systematic review. *International Journal of Environmental Research and Public Health*, 18(4), 1552. https://doi.org/10.3390/ijerph18041552
- Sultana, A., Sharma, R., Hossain, M. M. Bhattacharya, S. & Purohit, N (2020). Burnout among healthcare providers during COVID-19 pandemic: Challenges and evidence-based interventions. *Indian Journal of Medical Ethics*, http://doi:<u>10.31235/osf.io/4hxga</u>

Swamy, L., Mohr, D., Blok, A., Anderson, E., Charns, M., Wiener, R. S., & Rinne, S.(2020). Climate on burnout among critical care nurses in the Veterans Health Administration. *American Journal of Critical Care*, 29 (5) https://doi.org/10.4037/ajcc2020831

- Talaee et al. (2020). Stress and burnout in health care workers during COVID-19 pandemic: validation of a questionnaire. *Journal of public health*, 1–6. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10389-020-01313-z
- The Joint Commission (2019). Developing resilience to combat nurse burnout. Quick Safety, 50. Retrieved from <a href="https://www.jointcommission.org/-/media/tjc/newsletters/quick\_safety\_nurse\_resilience\_final\_7\_19\_19pdf.pdf">https://www.jointcommission.org/-/media/tjc/newsletters/quick\_safety\_nurse\_resilience\_final\_7\_19\_19pdf.pdf</a>.
- Tully, S. & Tao, H. (2019). Work-related stress and positive thinking among acute care nurses: A cross-sectional survey. *American Journal of Nursing*, 119 (5). <u>http://doi:10.1097/01.NAJ.0000557886.73585.d2</u>
- Tye, T. (2020). Florence Nightingale's legacy for health care. *Nurse Leader*, *18*(3). 220-226.https://doi.org/10.1016/j.mnl.2020.03.023.
- UCLA Statistical Consulting Group (2021). What does Cronbach's alpha mean. https://stats.idre.ucla.edu/spss/faq/what-does-cronbachs-alpha-mean/
- Ulrich, B., Barden, C., Cassidy, L., & Varn-Davis, N. (2019). Critical care nurses work environments 2018: Findings and implications. *American Association of Critical Care Nurses*. 39(2). <u>http://doi.org/10.4037/ccn2019605</u>
- Vahedian-Azimii, A., Hajiesmaeili, M., Kangasniemi, M., Fornes-Vives, J., Hunsucker,
  R. L., Rahimibashar, F., Pourhoseingholi, M. A., Farrokhvar, L. & Miller, A. C.
  (2019). Effects of stress on critical care nurses: A national cross-sectional study. *Journal of Intensive Care Medicine 2019, 34*(4), 311-322. http://doi:

10.1177/0885066617696853

Waddill-Goad, S.M. (2019). Stress, fatigue, and burnout in nursing, Journal of Radiology

*Nursing*, *38*(1), 44-46, https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jradnu.2018.10.005.

- Warner, R. M. (2013). *Applied statistics: From bivariate through multivariate techniques* (2nd ed.). Thousand Oaks, CA: SAGE Publications.
- Wei, H., King, A., Jiang, Y. Sewell, K. A., & Lake, D. M. (2020). The Impact of Nurse Leadership Styles on Nurse Burnout: A Systematic Literature Review. *Nurse Leader*, 18(5), 439-450. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.mnl.2020.04.002
- Williamson, K., Lank, P. M., Cheema, N., Hartman, N., & Lovell, E. O. (2018).
  Comparing the Maslach Burnout Inventory to other well-being instruments in emergency medicine residents. *Journal Graduate Medical Education*, *10*(5),532-536. http://doi: 10.4300/JGME-D-18-00155.1
- World Health Organization (2019). Burn-out an "occupational phenomenon": international classification of Diseases. Retrieved from <u>https://www.who.int/mental\_health/evidence/burn-out/en/</u>
- Zhang, x., Song, Y., Jiang, T., Ding, N., & Shi, T. (2020). Interventions to reduce burnout of physicians and nurses: An overview of systematic reviews and metaanalyses. *Medicine*, 99(26), <u>https://doi.org/10.1097/MD.00000000020992</u>

Appendix A: Recruitment Flyer

Appendix A: A Recruitment Flyer

# Volunteers are needed to participate in Research

You are eligible to participate if you work in a <u>hospital setting</u> as a <u>critical care nurse</u> in the <u>ICU</u> and provide <u>bedside care</u>

There is a new study called "Burnout and Positive Thinking Among Critical Care Nurses" The results of the study will be used to better understand the benefits of positive thinking skills in preventing burnout among critical care nurses

Click the link below to complete a confidential survey for the study

• To protect your privacy, no names will be collected



# Appendix C: Demographic Data Sheet 1. What is your Age? 25 years or less □ 26-35 □ 36-45 □ 46-55 🛛 56-65 🛛 Over 66 🛛 2. What is your gender? Male 🛛 Female 🗆 3. Marital status Married 🛛 Single Which ethnicity do you most identify? White Black/African American Hispanic/Latino Asian/Pacific Islander Native American Other not mentioned 4. What is your highest education level completed? Associate degree Bachelor degree Masters degree Doctorate degree $\Box$ 5. How long have you worked as a critical care unit? 1 year or less 2 - 7 years 8 – 13years 14 – 19 years □ 20 – 25 years □ more than 25 years

# Appendix C: Demographic Data Sheet

# Appendix D: MBI Permission Letter

For use by Evangeline Ani only. Received from Mind Garden, Inc. on March 2, 2022 Permission for Evangeline Ani to reproduce 150 copies within three years of March 2, 2022

# Maslach Burnout Inventory<sup>™</sup>

Instruments and Scoring Keys

Includes MBI Forms: Human Services - MBI-HSS Medical Personnel - MBI-HSS (MP) Educators - MBI-ES General - MBI-GS Students - MBI-GS (S)

> Christina Maslach Susan E. Jackson Michael P. Leiter Wilmar B. Schaufeli Richard L. Schwab

#### Published by Mind Garden, Inc.

info@mindgarden.com www.mindgarden.com

#### Important Note to Licensee

If you have purchased a license to reproduce or administer a fixed number of copies of an existing Mind Garden instrument, manual, or workbook, you agree that it is your legal responsibility to compensate the copyright holder of this work — via payment to Mind Garden — for reproduction or administration in any medium. Reproduction includes all forms of physical or electronic administration including online survey, handheld survey devices, etc.

The copyright holder has agreed to grant a license to reproduce the specified number of copies of this document or instrument within three years from the date of purchase.

You agree that you or a person in your organization will be assigned to track the number of reproductions or administrations and will be responsible for compensating Mind Garden for any reproductions or administrations in excess of the number purchased.

This instrument is covered by U.S. and international copyright laws. Any use of this instrument, in whole or in part, is subject to such laws and is expressly prohibited by the copyright holder. If you would like to request permission to use or reproduce the instrument, in whole or in part, contact Mind Garden, Inc.

MBI-General Survey: Copyright ©1996 Wilmar B. Schaufeli, Michael P., Leiter, Christina Maslach & Susan E. Jackson. MBI-Human Services Survey: Copyright©1981 Christina Maslach & Susan E. Jackson. MBI-Educators Survey: Copyright ©1986 Christina Maslach, Susan E. Jackson & Richard L. Schwab. All rights reserved in all media. Published by Mind Garden, Inc., <u>www.mindgarden.com</u>

# Appendix E: MBI Permission Letter



# Appendix F: MBI Permission Letter



# Appendix G: MBI Permission Letter

	For use by Evangeline Ani only. Received from Mind Garden, Inc. on August 4, 2022 Permission for Evangeline Ani to reproduce 500 copies within three years of August 4, 2022		
	Maslach Burnout Inventory <sup>™</sup> Instruments and Scoring Keys Includes MBI Forms: Human Services - MBI-HSS Medical Personnel - MBI-HSS (MP) Educators - MBI-ES General - MBI-GS Students - MBI-GS (S)		
	Christina Maslach Susan E. Jackson Michael P. Leiter Wilmar B. Schaufeli Richard L. Schwab		
Published by Mind Garden, Inc.			
info@mindgarden.com www.mindgarden.com			
Important Note to Licensee			
If you have p Garden instru the copyright any medium. <b>online surve</b>	urchased a license to reproduce or administer a fixed number of copies of an existing Mind ment, manual, or workbook, you agree that it is your legal responsibility to compensate holder of this work — via payment to Mind Garden — for reproduction or administration in <b>Reproduction includes all forms of physical or electronic administration including</b> ey, handheld survey devices, etc.		
The copyrigh document or	t holder has agreed to grant a license to reproduce the specified number of copies of this instrument within three years from the date of purchase.		
You agree the reproduction repr	nat you or a person in your organization will be assigned to track the number of ns or administrations and will be responsible for compensating Mind Garden for any ns or administrations in excess of the number purchased.		
This instrument to such laws an the instrument,	is covered by U.S. and international copyright laws. Any use of this instrument, in whole or in part, is subject d is expressly prohibited by the copyright holder. If you would like to request permission to use or reproduce in whole or in part, contact Mind Garden, Inc.		
	MBI-General Survey: Copyright ©1996 Wilmar B. Schaufell, Michael P. Leiter, Christina Maslach & Susan E. Jackson. MBI-Human Services Survey: Copyright ©1981 Christina Maslach & Susan E. Jackson. MBI-Educators Survey: Copyright ©1989 Christina Maslach, Susan E. Jackson & Richard L. Schwab. All rights reserved in all media. Published by Mind Garden, Inc., <u>www.mindgarden.com</u>		

# Appendix H: PTSS Permission Letter

0	ctober 12, 2021
D	ear Evangeline,
Tl "E yo	nank you for your interest in using the Positive Thinking Skills Scale (PTSS) for your research entitled Burnout and Positive Thinking Among Critical Care Nurses." As the developer and owner of this scale, I give ou my permission to use the PTSS scale.
I l re an th	ave provided you with a copy of the instrument, scoring guide, and reference for publications describing its liability and validity. I ask that you not alter the items, scaling, or scoring of the PTSS without notification is request for further permission. Finally, I ask that you report to me at the end of your study the findings at pertain to the measurement of positive thinking.
I v Po	will be available as a consultant in the interpretation, presentation, and publication of findings in relation to the sitive Thinking Skills Scale.
Iv	wish you success on this important study.
B	est regards,
a	llir Bekhet